
For requests for further information
Contact:  Joel.Hammond-Gant
Tel:       01270 686468
E-Mail:    joel.hammond-gant@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies

Health and Adult Social Care and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee
Agenda

Date: Thursday, 10th October, 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

Membership

Conservative Councillors L Wardlaw (Chairman), J Clowes, 
S Gardiner, P Redstone, J  Weatherill and 
N Wylie

Labour Councillors S Brookfield, A Critchley, M Houston, 
J Parry and R Vernon

Independent Group Councillors A Moran (Vice-Chairman), D Edwardes and 
M Goldsmith

Liberal Democrat Councillors D Murphy

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making and 
Overview and Scrutiny meetings are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to 
the Council’s website

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 10)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2019.

Public Document Pack

mailto:joel.hammond-gant@cheshireeast.gov.uk


3. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable pecuniary and 
non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

4. Declaration of Party Whip  

To provide an opportunity for Members to declare the existence of a party whip in relation to 
any item on the Agenda

5. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

A total period of 15 minutes is allocated for members of the public to make a statement(s) on 
any matter that falls within the remit of the Committee.

Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes, but the Chairman will decide 
how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned, where there are a 
number of speakers.

Note: in order for officers to undertake and background research, it would be helpful if 
members of the public notified the Scrutiny Officer listed at the foot of the Agenda at least one 
working day before the meeting with brief details of the matter to be covered.

6. Care4CE  (Pages 11 - 40)

To consider the Council’s proposals for the Care4CE service, in advance of a formal decision 
being taken by Cabinet.

7. Working Arrangements at the Congleton War Memorial Hospital Minor Injuries 
Unit  (Pages 41 - 46)

To consider a report on the working arrangements at the Minor Injuries Unit at Congleton War 
Memorial Hospital.

8. Impact of 2018 Winter Pressures on Delayed Transfers of Care  (Pages 47 - 62)

To consider performance relating to delayed transfers of care of patients during the 2018/19 
winter months.

9. Connected Communities  (Pages 63 - 108)

To consider a progress report on performance of the Council’s Connected Communities 
Centres against key strategies and objectives. 

10. Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018/19  (Pages 109 - 124)

To consider the work undertaken by the Local Safeguarding Adults Board during 2018/19.

11. Carers Hubs and Living Well Fund  (Pages 125 - 140)

To consider a presentation on the Council’s Carer Hub and the Living Well Fund.



12. Forward Plan  (Pages 141 - 152)

To consider the Council’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period ending 31 January 
2020.

13. Work Programme  (Pages 153 - 166)

To review the current work programme.



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Adult Social Care and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

held on Thursday, 12th September, 2019 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, 
Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor L Wardlaw (Chairman)
Councillor A Moran (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors S Brookfield, J Clowes, A Critchley, D Edwardes, S Gardiner, 
M Houston, D Murphy, J Parry, P Redstone, R Vernon, J  Weatherill and 
N Wylie

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS IN ATTENDANCE

Councillor J Rhodes, Portfolio Holder for Public Health and Corporate 
Services

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE

Jill Broomhall, Director of Adult Social Care
Dr Yvonne Dailey, Consultant in Dental Public Health (Cheshire and 
Merseyside) (Public Health England North West)*
Nichola Glover-Edge, Director of Commissioning
Guy Kilminster, Corporate Manager Health Improvement***
Tom Knight, Head of Primary Care (NHS England and NHS Improvement 
North West)*
Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director of People
Matt Tyrer, Interim Director of Public Health****
John Wilbraham, Chief Executive Officer (East Cheshire NHS Trust)**

* Attended for Minute No. 22
** Attended for Minute No. 24
*** Attended for Minute No. 25
**** Attended for Minute No. 26

15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor M Goldsmith.

16 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED – 

That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 13 June 2019 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



17 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received.

18 DECLARATION OF PARTY WHIP 

No declarations of the existence of a party whip were received.

19 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

No members of the public present wished to speak.

The committee asked the Acting Executive Director of People for a verbal 
update on the council’s response to the Beechmere fire incident that 
occurred on 8 August 2019.

The committee was made aware of the work that the council, partners and 
volunteers had undertaken to support the displaced and affected 
residents, and were continuing to provide.

The committee expressed an interest in receiving a further update report 
that detailed the lessons learned by the council following its response to 
the incident, as well as the publication of the Fire Authority’s de-brief 
report. 

Members asked that the report also address some of their other queries 
and concerns relating to the costs incurred by the council following the 
incident, as well as its business continuity plans and emergency 
contingency plans in place in other service areas to protect and support 
residents in the event of another emergency situation.

RESOLVED – 

That the Acting Executive Director of People put together a multi-
disciplinary report on the lessons learned by the council following the 
Beechmere incident, which also addresses the committee’s other queries 
raised, at an appropriate date in the future.

20 WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the committee’s current work programme.

Concern was raised by members regarding delays to items and the 
committee sought assurance from officers that reports scheduled for the 
next meeting on 10 October 2019 would not be delayed further.

Members also requested an update on the committee’s proposed work 
relating to Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities. 

RESOLVED – 

Page 6



1 That the work programme be agreed and approved, including the 
new items suggested for addition.

2 That the committee hold an additional, informal meeting in the 
afternoon of Thursday 7 November 2019 – after its ordinary 
business meeting in the morning – to receive information from 
officers/partners relating to the welfare of Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller communities, and how this Council compares against 
national requirements and benchmarks.

21 FORWARD PLAN 

Consideration was given to the council’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions 
for the four month period ending 31 December 2019.

RESOLVED – 

That the Forward Plan be noted.

22 PROVISION OF ORTHODONTIC AND ORAL SURGERY SERVICES IN 
CHESHIRE EAST 

Consideration was given to a report submitted by NHS England and Public 
Health England regarding the future commissioning arrangements of oral 
surgery and orthodontic services for Cheshire East residents.

Following this, members asked questions and put comments in respect of;

 whether there had been improved consultation and engagement 
between NHS England and stakeholders and key partners since the 
last update was provided to the committee;

 what process or pathway patients had to go through to access 
orthodontic and oral surgery services, and which alternative 
providers they had been transferred to;

 concern that the private healthcare organisation Spire Healthcare 
had received additional business following the closure of the 
orthodontic and oral surgery services at Macclesfield District 
General Hospital.

Members were reassured of the reasons why patients had been 
transferred to Spire Healthcare in recent months, and that this provider 
was not part of the longer term plans for patients.

RESOLVED – 

1 That the update be noted.

2 That a further update report be provided to the committee in 
December 2019.

Page 7



3 That NHS England and Public Health England endeavour to meet 
the committee’s request that the next update report includes an 
evaluation of organisational workforce stability, with reference to the 
mechanisms being put in place to mitigate any current or future 
workforce instability.

23 UPDATE ON SECRETARY OF STATE REFERRAL 

The committee considered the letter received from the Secretary of State 
for Health and Social Care in response to its referral of the closure of 
specialist orthodontic and oral surgery services at Macclesfield District 
General Hospital.

Members expressed disappointment that the Secretary of State’s 
response did not specifically address the main issue – a lack of any 
consultation on the proposed service closures – that had resulted in the 
referral being made.

RESOLVED – 

1 That the committee responds to the Secretary of State’s letter, 
providing its view on the current and future consultation 
arrangements with the committee.

2 That the response letter seeks assurance from the Secretary of 
State that measures will be put in place to ensure that responsible 
health bodies follow legislative requirements to consult and engage 
with their local health scrutiny body at the earliest opportunity 
regarding service reconfigurations.

The committee adjourned for a short break.

24 MACCLESFIELD NEONATAL UNIT RE-DESIGNATION 

Consideration was given to a report submitted by East Cheshire NHS 
Trust regarding its planned re-designation of its Neonatal Unit at 
Macclesfield District General Hospital to a Special Care Baby Unit.

Following this, members asked questions and put comments in respect of;

 concern that this re-designation was indicative of wider service 
sustainability issues at Macclesfield District General Hospital, in 
particular its maternity unit; and

 why the Trust had not been able to fulfil the care requirements 
associated with a Neonatal Unit (level two of three).

The Chief Executive of East Cheshire NHS Trust assured the committee 
that the re-designation of the Neonatal Unit would not impact on the level 
of service provided.

Page 8



RESOLVED – 

That the report be noted.

25 CHESHIRE EAST FIVE-YEAR PLACE PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Cheshire East Partnership Five Year Plan, 
with a view to providing feedback on its content to the Cheshire and 
Merseyside Health and Care Partnership, for consideration prior to the 
final version of the Plan being adopted.

The committee provided the following feedback to be passed on to the 
Partnership;

 More references could have been made to substance misuse within 
the Plan;

 Members would have liked to have seen more detail about 
Cheshire East’s elderly population, particularly in respect of life 
expectancy and the multitude of conditions that elderly people more 
commonly live with, and how these consequently affect the future 
sustainability of council services;

 More references could have been made to people living with special 
educational needs or disabilities, or other complex needs; and

 That the Plan could have talked more about supporting people 
struggling with personal issues such as sexual or gender orientation 
and identification, and the mental health issues that can sometimes 
be related to these.

RESOLVED – 

That the committee’s feedback be passed on to the Cheshire and 
Merseyside Health and Care Partnership for consideration.

26 PERFORMANCE SCORECARD - QUARTER 1 (2019/20) 

Consideration was given to the performance data for services within the 
remit of the committee from the first quarter (May, June and July) of the 
current financial year 2019/20.

Members asked that the performance data it had previously requested 
through its work programme, for quarter three of the previous financial 
year 2018/19, be circulated outside of the meeting.

Members asked questions on the performance data provided, with a focus 
on those areas of low or worsened performance.

RESOLVED – 

1 That the performance scorecard be noted.

Page 9



2 That the performance scorecard for quarter three of 2018/19 be 
circulated to the committee via email after the meeting.

The meeting commenced at 10.01 am and concluded at 12.30 pm

Councillor L Wardlaw (Chairman)

Page 10



 

OFFICIAL 

 
                                                                                         
Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 

Report Title:  Care4CE: A strategic direction for Care4CE 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Laura Jeuda, (Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care & 

Integration) 

Senior Officer:  Linda Couchman, (Acting Strategic Director of Adult Social Care 

and Health) 

 
1. Report Summary 

1.1. The Council is committed to providing a range of excellent local care and 

support services for the residents of Cheshire East. A key principle of the 

Care Act (2014) legislation is personalisation - meaning that people should be 

able to take charge of their own care and support system and be in the driving 

seat of identifying their needs and how and when they will be met and in 

particular by whom, whether eligible for adult social care or funding the care 

themselves. 

1.2. The Care Act (2014) specifically requires Local Authorities to develop greater 

diversity in the care market to ensure that there is a wide range of high quality 

services from which residents can choose the care that best meets their 

needs. The intention is that the care market will be influenced and shaped by 

the Council and its health partners to have a vibrant and flexible range of 

services which can deliver such personalised services, meeting increasing 

demand, responding to a complexity of need and considering alternative 

models of care and utilising new technology.  

1.3. Cheshire East Council has a duty under Section 5 of the Care Act to promote 

the efficient and effective operation and sustainability of a market in services 

for meeting the care and support needs of individuals.  There are increasing 

financial pressures on the social care market, for example National Living 

Version 

Number: 1.2 

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



 

OFFICIAL 

Wage, recruitment and retention issues which is resulting in a rise in care 

costs.     

1.4. In January 2018, a North West Market sustainability and oversight review was 

undertaken that demonstrated the scale of the challenge facing the social care 

sector. It described that commissioners cannot continue to support people in 

the same way as existing models of care are not sustainable. This conclusion 

was driven by a number of factors including, demographic growth, the level of 

fees local authorities pay is low and providers are struggling to recruit and 

retain a skilled workforce.   

1.5. As a result, Cheshire East Council commissioners procured a consultancy to 

conduct a strategic review of its internal care provision, ‘Care4CE’, to 

determine the available options for the future service which would meet its 

strategic challenges and address the commitments within the Medium-Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS). The review was completed in June 2018.  

1.6. The review concluded that Care4CE should be commissioned, just like any 

other social care service, but this would be block contract for a number of 

services, (including a service development plan).  

1.7. On review of the market there appears to be an apparent gap in the external 

market surrounding the care of self funders, individuals with complex needs 

such as learning disability and mental health and the recruitment of personal 

assistants to support direct payment users therefore it is proposed that 

Care4CE also establishes a Separate Legal Entity (SLE) that will allow 

Care4CE to trade in the market place.  

1.8. A summary of the 2018 review was presented to the Adult Social Care & 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in July 2018 where it was agreed 

that a formal consultation on the recommendation of the review would be 

undertaken and approval given for continuing work on developing the 

business case associated with the proposals. The consultation closed in 

March 2019. 

1.9. The original review was completed over the summer of 2018 and the 

supporting business case revisited in June 2019 to ensure all assumptions 

remain valid.  

1.10.   The consultation demonstrated the preferred option was for Care4CE to be a    

wholly owned council company. 

1.11.    The outputs of the formal consultation are summarised and reported in more 

detail within Appendix A.  

 

 

Page 12



 

OFFICIAL 

2. Recommendations 

That Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considers the proposals and scrutinises the consultation and 

proposed future model. 

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. The Council currently spend circa £45m on 1985 clients aged 18-64 and 

£54m on 5233 clients aged over 65. Recent legislative changes through the 

recent ruling on ‘Sleep-Ins’ (subject to appeal), National and Local Living 

Wage and Holiday back-pay place increased pressure on the adult social 

care budget and this situation is only likely to become more serious over the 

coming years with the numbers and complexity of adults requiring social 

care support rising and cost pressures increasing.  

 

3.2. During the 10 year lifetime of Cheshire East Council since 2009, in real 

terms the Care4CE budget has reduced by over 50% from its original level of 

£32m. This reduction has come from a number of factors, including, closure 

of Community Support centres, ceasing to provide domiciliary care and 

through continual efficiencies such as delayering of managerial staffing 

levels being delivered. 

 

3.3. Like all Councils, Cheshire East continues to face intense change, with an 

increasing demand for social care services, a contraction of funding and a 

challenging policy environment. Some of the main challenges are shown 

below. 

 

3.4. The review of Care4CE evidenced that remaining as an internal service, 

unchanged in its current form, was not viable for the medium to long term as 

the option was unaffordable. Therefore to block contract and protect the 

existing Care4CE services is crucial but it is essential to allow Care4CE the 

ability to income generate through trading.  

 

3.5. As well as the significant financial pressures on the service, the introduction 

of personalisation will also continue to have considerable impact. The 

government requires all councils with Adult Social Care responsibilities to 

introduce personalisation through self-directed support and personal 

budgets. In self-directing their care and support, service users can elect to 

take their personal budget as a Direct Payment. 

 

3.6. The Health and Social Care landscape is changing with integrated delivery 

and commissioning of health and care services to improve population health 

and wellbeing outcomes. Key drivers for implementing the NHS long term 

plan and the move towards more integrated service commissioning and 

delivery through local Health and Care transformation programmes in 

Cheshire East means shifting care from acute and reactive provision to 

Page 13



 

OFFICIAL 

home/community-level and proactive joined-up care. This requires the need 

for community based health and care services that can respond to the 

changing context.  

 

3.7. The review undertaken therefore looked to mitigate these potential impacts 

in order to protect Care4CE as well as consider the opportunities for the 

delivery of the Care4CE services in a changing and complex strategic 

context.  

 

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. The review identified and reviewed all options for the future delivery of 

Care4CE services, including: 

• doing nothing (remaining in-house),  

• looking to the market (outsourcing),  

• community-led delivery (empowerment),  

• partnership working (integration),  

• establishment of a separate legal model (stimulation),  

• improving the current internal delivery (redesign),  

• a mixed economy (combination of options).  

 

4.2. The review identified that the establishment of an SLE was the preferred way 

forward as it allowed the Council to proactively shape how it wants services 

to be delivered in the future, to enable it to meet the challenges identified. 

 

4.3. Commissioning Model  

4.3.1. The overarching aim of Care4CE services is to enable people to live as 

independently as possible by preventing or delaying the need for residential 

care.  The service offers personalised care to support service users to 

achieve their individual agreed outcomes, strengths and aspirations. 

 

4.3.2. It is proposed that the following Care4CE services fall within the scope of the 

proposed SLE: 

• Community Reablement 

• Dementia Reablement 

• Mental Health Reablement 

• Mobile Nights 

• Service of Last Resort 

• Shared Lives 

• Supported Living 

• Day Services 

• Market Failure and Crisis Response service 

 

4.3.3. It is proposed that the services in scope are initially transferred to the SLE 

“as is” with the intention that the following opportunities to reshape and 

restructure the service are explored in year one of the SLE.  Please note that 

Page 14



 

OFFICIAL 

the names of the service elements below will be reviewed and potentially 

rebranded to reflect the service aims and objectives. 

 

• Reablement: Integrate the current Mental Health and Community 

Reablement services.  These currently operate separately due to the nature 

of the service user group, however, with the right training and alignment both 

services could potentially integrate and deliver as one service.  This would 

create an integrated service with a diverse range of staff skills and 

competencies while offering some financial efficiencies; 

• Shared Lives: Expand the Shared Lives offer and explore how the service 

can support short term, intermediate care placements for people leaving 

hospital, short breaks and daytime support; 

• Supported Living: Retain the existing Supported Living model but review 

the community element of service and shift focus towards people with more 

complex needs; 

• Day Opportunities: Shift the focus to people who are eligible for social care 

services and who have complex needs such as dementia, complex Learning 

Difficulties, Mental Health or autism.  Re-focus the existing Day 

Opportunities as Community Hubs and widen the offer and flexibility of the 

service to include sessional support and weekend access. Move to a 

community integrated service that includes outreach opportunities alongside 

the traditional building base offer. 

 

4.3.4.There are a number of other opportunities that commissioners have identified 

to develop the Care4CE service further over the lifetime of the initial contract 

and it is intended that these will be included as Service Developments within 

the service specification and reflected in a Service Improvement and 

Development Plan to be co-produced with the SLE. 

 

4.3.5. There will be one overarching service specification. Service specific 

information will be appended to the overarching service specifications in 

separate schedules.   

 

4.3.6. Service performance will be monitored against measurable and achievable 

targets for Key and Critical Performance Indicators which will be set out in a 

robust Performance Management Framework.  

 

4.3.7. It is anticipated that financial remuneration will be via a combination of a 

block monthly payment for a guaranteed level of work with tariff-based 

payments for work exceeding this.  The contract will reflect the requirements 

set out in the service specification and Performance Management 

Framework including provisions for Incentivised Indicators for achievement 

of key outcomes, indicators or service developments and financial penalties 

for critical performance issues 

 

Page 15



 

OFFICIAL 

4.3.8. The relationship between the Council and the SLE will be supported by a 

comprehensive, jointly agreed Management Agreement.  Interface 

agreements, process flows and service pathways will be developed between 

Health and Social Care commissioners and the SLE to ensure that partners 

are clear about roles and responsibilities and robust systems and processes 

are in place to effectively deliver the service and ensure a seamless 

transition for service users. 

 

4.3.9.    It is anticipated that the Council’s Care Brokerage team will generate 

referrals for the service and that individuals who have a direct payment, a 

personal budget, or wish to independently purchase the service will be able 

to do so. 

 

4.3.10. The contract management and quality assurance team intend to align 

Care4CE in the same way as external providers for all contract management 

and quality assurance functions. 

 

4.4. Strategic and Operational benefits of a Separate Legal Entity (SLE) 

4.4.1. The creation of a SLE will deliver a significant number of non-financial 

benefits to the council.  

 

4.4.1.1. Service users and carers, through the consultation exercise expressed how 

much they respected these services and staff. They expressed their desire 

to keep the same staff and enhance service delivery, not reduce. The 

creation of an SLE could mean:  

 

 The services remain intact but are able to trade and compete with other 

market competitors within the world of personal budgets and direct 

payments.  

 

 Service users and staff can become more involved in the decision making, 

and direction of the company. 

 

 The new model should facilitate a culture where should be conducive to 

more innovative delivery models. 

 

 Promotes further choice and competition in the market. 

 

 Allows services to adopt commercial disciplines to increase productivity and 

develop a culture of continuous improvement. 

 

 Enables the council to retain an influence in the market whilst achieving the 

benefits of a market model.  

 

Page 16



 

OFFICIAL 

 Means services can generate additional income through trading. This would 

mean further economies of scale could be achieved which could lower the 

cost of production of council delivered services. 

 

 Provides a vehicle and a way of financing (through investment of surplus) 

interventions which will reduce the need for council funded long term care. 

 

 Increases service user choice through the development of alternative 

services.  

 

4.4.2. The introduction of a provider of this nature into the market enhances choice 

for residents and service users. The benefits for the council will include some 

care which is currently commissioned out of borough can be brought into 

Care4CE thus saving the authority additional, often expensive out of 

borough contracts. 

 

4.4.3. Similarly, as the SLE will be contracted on a ‘block’ basis and capacity is not 

currently maximised, maximising the numbers of service users who receive 

care from Care4CE services will reduce other third party spend. 

 

4.5. Consultation 

4.5.1. The Consultation phase was conducted following the completion of the 

business case concluding that the establishment of an SLE was the optimum 

delivery model for Care4CE services in the future. 

 

4.5.2. The consultation ran from 12th December 2018 to 15th March 2019. The 

objective of the consultation was to seek the views of residents, service 

users, carers, staff and anyone else with an interest in Care4CE on the 

future ways of delivering services. 

 

4.5.3. A single organisation was consulted upon, rather than several smaller ones, 

so that economies of scale are possible and existing capabilities from 

provider services are not fragmented or lost from the market. The new 

organisation would be different to the existing Care4CE service. In line with 

feedback from customers, communities, carers and staff, it would be an 

organisation that reviews it structure, processes and culture – embracing 

new ways of working and technology to improve outcomes, reduce cost and 

grow services for a more sustainable future. 

 

4.5.4. Choosing the right SLE delivery model will define the way the organisation 

operates. As with any form of service delivery, having the right structure in 

place to provide strong foundations for growth and development is essential. 

Because of this, the council was keen to understand what attributes will 

motivate its staff, support its business and enable service users to access 

the services in the way they want. 

Page 17



 

OFFICIAL 

 

4.5.5. The following options were consulted upon. 

 Option 1: A Trading Company wholly owned and controlled by the 

council 

 Option 2: A Social Enterprise wholly owned by the council 

 Option 3: A Public Service Mutual 

 

4.5.6. The approach adopted for the consultation ensured equality of opportunity 

for all citizens, service users, carers, partners, providers, community 

organisations, staff and other stakeholders, to take part.  

 

4.5.7. Accessibility of the consultation was a key consideration and therefore easy 

read paper versions of the report were produced and made available as well 

as providing additional support to service users who wished to participate 

e.g. helping with completion of surveys and additional time spent explaining 

the aspirations of the service and answering concerns. 

 

4.5.8. In total, the consultation and subsequent events saw the following 

participation levels: 

 666 completed surveys 

 205 staff attended staff briefings 

 32 staff attended staff focus groups 

 45 carers attended focus group sessions 

 11 members of the general public attended public consultation events 

 

4.5.9. Appendix A contains the final report from the consultation exercise. 

 

4.6. SLE Ownership and Legal Model 

4.6.1. The ownership model and legal structure are fundamental to ensuring that 

the Council achieves its strategic objectives as well as maintaining the 

desired level of influence and control over service delivery. Whilst influence 

and control can be established/mitigated through the supporting governance 

structure for the SLE; the level to which the Council wishes to maintain these 

factors can have some bearing on the most appropriate ownership model for 

the SLE. 

 

4.6.2. There are 3 options for the future ownership of the SLE from the Council’s 

perspective. These are as follows: 

• Wholly owned by the Council 

• Part-owned by the Council (ranging from minority to majority shareholder) 

• No Council ownership  

 

Page 18



 

OFFICIAL 

4.6.3. The ownership of the SLE has significant bearing on the potential legal 

model, the future relationship with the Council, as well as the ability for the 

SLE to deliver the Council’s strategic priorities. 

 

4.6.4. A wholly owned ownership model mitigates the procurement risk associated 

with other ownership models, i.e. means Teckal exemption can be applied, 

but not at the expense of any long term desire to mutualise as the ownership 

model can be reviewed at a later date. Instead, this option gives the Council 

flexibility to consider future ownership options over the initial three year 

period. Future ownership is at the Council’s discretion. (* A Teckal company 

is the common name for a company which benefits from contracts for work, 

services or supply from its controlling Contracting Authority without having to 

go through a competitive tender process.) 

 

4.6.5. The Care4CE review analysis has started from the perspective that the most 

appropriate legal structure would be one that delivers most benefits whilst 

managing risk in the most appropriate manner. The legal structure must be 

in accordance with a wholly owned SLE and should be capable of:  

• Delivering value for money for the council 

• Managing risk to the council 

• Ensuring Teckal compliance 

• Reflect the Directorate’s strategic and commissioning intentions of promoting 

the principles of localism, stakeholder involvement and promoting social 

good 

• Delivering the Directorates priorities for the SLE in regards to the ability to:  

- enable attraction of external funding,  

- adapt quickly,  

- reinvest surplus/profit for a social purpose,  

- service customers external to CE  

- have shareholders 

- enable staff to influence the company  

- enable service users to influence the company 

- reflect stakeholder feedback of the desire to create a social organisation, 

evidenced through the formal consultation.  

 

4.6.6. The ownership model, i.e. wholly owned by the Council, limits the plethora of 

options for the legal model for the SLE. The viable options would be 

considered as being a company wholly owned by shares or a Community 

Interest Company (CIC). Given the significant preference during consultation 

for the SLE to be a ‘social enterprise’ the CIC option would most fulfil this 

preference. 

 

4.6.7. To enable the council to commission services from the SLE, the company 

should be established as a “Teckal Controlled” company, wholly owned and 

controlled by the Council.  

Page 19



 

OFFICIAL 

 

4.6.8. The Wholly Owned Company will be awarded a contract to deliver the listed 

services with the contract price yet to be finalised as the final cost structures 

for the Company are developed. It is recommended that the length of the 

contract is 5 years, with the option of the council initiating a break clause 

after the gateway review in year 3. 

 

4.6.9. Throughout the period of ownership, the council will wish to form a view as to 

how any operating surpluses (that are not locked for public benefit) are to be 

shared between the council and the Wholly Owned Company. These could 

be retained by the Company to further develop services which benefit 

service users, carers and customers and the council or to deliver a return 

back to the council. 

 

4.7. Financial Case 

4.7.1. The financial case has been updated according to the due diligence exercise 

and modelled based on the assumption that the primary financial benefit to 

the Council will be through a reduced contract price. The specific price will 

be determined following further negotiation during implementation.  

However, the SLE also has the opportunity to create a surplus, the use of 

which will be determined by its governance. Depending on company 

structure, such surpluses could be reinvested or paid out as dividends. How 

any surplus is invested, shared or otherwise will be determined through the 

governance structures, summarised in the Commercial Case, which will be 

put in place. 

 

5. Implications of the Recommendations 

5.1. Legal Implications  

 

5.1.1. The scope and robustness of the consultation in order to be content that the 

Cabinet is suitably informed and able to rely on the outcomes of the 

consultation.  

 

5.1.2. If this project is to be progressed further due diligence needs to be 

undertaken to assess the correct SLE model which could be a simple Teckal 

company or a Public sector mutual. A number of factors will need to be 

considered as part of this due diligence in relation to asset ownership, level 

of control required, ability and restrictions in relation to income generation. 

Both the Council and company will also have to be mindful that by meeting 

the community interest test it is not then precluded from undertaking services 

for the council.  Alternatively, the council may wish to consider establishing a 

‘simple’ Teckal’ company structure for a period of time to allow the company 

time to become established and its provision of services to the council to be 

embedded. Following this initial period consideration could then be given to 

Page 20



 

OFFICIAL 

developing the company into a Mutual or CIC. This would be in line with the 

Council’s approach to ASDVs 

 

5.1.3. If a Teckal company is the preferred model the company will be permitted to 

trade i.e. make a profit for up to 20% of its turnover in a 3-year period. The 

council and company will have to keep this under review. If the 20% is 

exceeded, then the company would either have to establish a non Teckal 

subsidiary or alternatively shed its Teckal status and tender for any contracts 

to deliver services for the council.  

 

5.1.4. Due diligence will need to be undertaken to obtain certainty as to whether 

the Better Care Fund allows for the funding to be used to commission 

services from the company and for this to be kept under review.  

 

5.1.5. Further due diligence will also be required to clarify any the state aid 

implications once the proposals in relation to any assets and support e.g. 

from corporate services could constitute state aid. Therefore, consideration 

has to be given in relation to the council’s appetite for risk compared against 

the company paying full cost. 

 

5.2. Finance Implications 

5.2.1. In 2019/20 the budget for Care4CE is circa £14m (17.8m if Better Care 

Funded Services are included) which still includes proposed savings of 

£2.4m per annum allocated from within the Council’s MTFS. It was 

recognised in 2017/18 that the overall level of savings assigned to Care4CE 

in the existing Medium Term Financial Strategy at the time of £4.2m was 

unachievable and the last tranche of these savings (£1.5m) was therefore 

allocated elsewhere in the Adults Services budget. The response to this 

financial position has been to consider a revised sustainable model for 

Care4CE, that can maximise the opportunity to reduce the overall cost of the 

service, without compromising service levels or affecting the wider market of 

commissioned care in Cheshire East. Of the original savings target £0.3m 

has been achieved, and an appropriate baseline budget, based on actual 

expenditure is therefore £13.8m for 2019/20. 

 

5.2.2. Of the original savings target £2.4m may need to be written back in to the 

MTFS as growth, to allow the business case for any revised delivery model 

to properly reflect the true financial impact against current spending. Savings 

from the service  could be incorporated in the next MTFS for the period 

commencing 1st April 2020 and for subsequent years through to 2025/26. 

Unless the unachievable original savings are removed one off alternative 

remedial measures will still need to be delivered to enable Adults Social 

Care to deliver a balanced budget. 

 

 

Page 21



 

OFFICIAL 

5.3. Policy Implications 

5.3.1 This paper requests the approval of a separate legal entity. 

 

 

5.4. Equality Implications 

5.4.1. A comprehensive Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and will 

form part of the cabinet report.  

 

5.5. Human Resources Implications 

5.5.1. If the decision to proceed with an SLE is made, then essentially all existing 

employees providing the services immediately before transfer will follow the 

work and transfer to the SLE under the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection 

of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE).  

 

5.5.2. Approximately 605 staff (444.46 Full Time Equivalent (FTE)) will be affected. 

They would transfer on their current terms and conditions and continuity of 

service would be preserved. Given the scale of the transfer being 

considered, there may be staff within support services who could be within 

scope of the TUPE transfer, but further work is required to assess the 

potential impact. The council will ensure it complies with its information and 

consultation requirements set out in the regulations and allows sufficient time 

for this process to be completed.  

 

5.5.3. It is acknowledged that the current Council Terms and Conditions present a 

challenge to Care4CE becoming a competitive player in the external market, 

both through higher unit-costs and an inability to attract new staff due to 

lower than market average wages. 

 

5.5.4. Trade union engagement will continue to be seen as integral to the process. 

Regular updates have been provided at Trade Union meetings regarding the 

project and representatives have also been invited to attend staff briefings. 

Should Cabinet give approval to proceed, a formal consultation will be 

undertaken as per TUPE regulations. 

 

5.5.5. Local authority staff are entitled to pension protection under the Best Value 

Authorities Staff Transfer (Pensions) Directions 2007. The protection is such 

that a new employer must provide all transferring staff who are members of 

the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) or are entitled to join with 

continued access to the LGPS or to a broadly comparable pension scheme. 

 

5.6. Risk Management Implications 

5.6.1. Risk analysis has been undertaken on a regular basis by the project team 

and project board and this will continue for the duration of the project. 

 

 

Page 22



 

OFFICIAL 

5.7. Rural Communities Implications 

5.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities; however the 

implementation of a generic, locality based workforce, as detailed in the 

business case, will further support the robust provision of adult social care 

services across all parts of Cheshire East; improving continuity and depth of 

provision. 

 

5.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

5.8.1. Whilst there are no direct implications for children and young people, it is 

proposed that the move to a SLE will strengthen the organisations financial 

position, allowing it to embed modern technology enabled services which will 

be more attractive to young people than at present.  

 

5.9. Public Health Implications 

5.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health. Work will continue to 

strengthen relationships between Cheshire East and its public health 

partners, and the continued delivery of Better Care Funded services will 

remain a key feature of this. 

 

5.10. Climate Change Implications 

5.10.1.Development of a locality based workforce aims to reduce the amount of 

travel staff are required to undertake. Further to this, a key part of the set up 

of the company will be to develop a technology enabled business hub and it 

is also envisaged that this hub would look to maximise virtual working. 

Again, this would seek to reduce the amount of travel for staff but also 

reduce the services environmental impact through increased paperless 

working.  

 

5.10.2.By its nature, and through continued joint working with public health and the 

Lifestyle Centres, Care4CE will continue to promote healthy lifestyles with its 

service users and believe that the creation of an SLE will enable the 

development of a community hub style approach to service delivery in the 

future.  

 

6. Ward Members Affected 

6.1.1. The recommendations of this report are applicable borough-wide. It is 

anticipated that the localities model will improve service delivery across 

Cheshire East. 

 

7. Consultation & Engagement 

7.1.1. Public consultation took place between December 2018 and March 2019. 

Details of this can be found in Appendix A. 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

OFFICIAL 

8. Access to Information 

8.1.1. There are no further supporting documents other than those shown in the 

following appendixes. 

 

 

 

9. Contact Information 

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

 

Name: Nichola Glover-Edge  

Job Title: Director of Commissioning  

Email: Nichola.glover-edge@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

Page 24



Care4CE Consultation 
Survey Findings 

 

C.Co, part of the  family 

P
age 25



Consultation Survey Findings 
Profile of respondents  

2 

6% 

56% 

33% 

5% 

Respondents Gender Identity 

Not disclosed

Female

Male

Prefer not to say

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

No
answer
given

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85 and
over

Prefer
not to say

Respondents Age Group 

P
age 26



Consultation Survey Findings 
Profile of respondents  

3 

0

50

100

150

200

250

A carer of a
service user

A Local
Resident

A provider of
services

A service user An employee
of Cheshire
East Council

Other

Disability of respondents 

No answer given No disabilty Prefer not to say Have disability

12% 

29% 

2% 

23% 

29% 

5% 

Respondent descriptor category 

A carer of a service user

A Local Resident

A provider of services

A service user

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

Other

There were 17 respondent types defined from the consultation 
surveys. For the purposes of the report, any respondent type that 
is less than 1% has been grouped into the group “Other”. 

P
age 27



Consultation Survey Findings 
Of the models described, which is your preferred option? 

4 

6% 

19% 

46% 

29% 

What is your preferred option?  

No Answer selected

Option 1 : A Trading Company
wholly owned and controlled by
the council

Option 2 : A Social Enterprise
wholly owned by the council

Option 3 : A Public Service
Mutual

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

No answer
selected

Option 1 : A
Trading

Company
wholly owned

and
controlled by

the council

Option 2 : A
Social

Enterprise
wholly owned
by the council

Option 3 : A
Public Service

Mutual

Preferred Model by Respondent Group 

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 28



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.1. ... with the overall aspirations for future services? 

• All respondent groups, except service 
users, had a majority response “Tend to 
agree” with the overall aspirations for 
future services. 

• There was a slim majority in the service 
users group that selected “Strongly 
agree” at 25% with the question, 
however 24% of respondents in this 
group selected “No opinion/Not sure” 
and another 24% selected “Tend to 
agree” 

 

5 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 29



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.2. ... with the council’s idea of creating a new care organisation? 

• “Tend to agree” was the most popular 
choice for respondents views on the 
council’s idea of creating a new care 
organisation, across all respondents 
groups. With 43% of all respondents 
selecting this option. 

• This was followed by “Strongly agree”, of 
which 23% of all respondents selecting 
this option. 

6 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 30



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.3. ... that the future organisation should have the ability to provide/sell services to a wider market? 

• The majority of respondents “Strongly 
agree” with the idea that the future 
organisation should have the ability to 
provide/sell services to a wider market. 
With employees making up the bulk of 
this answer. 

• 71% of all respondents were in 
agreement with the statement. 

 

7 

0

50

100

150

200

250

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 31



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.4. ... that the future organisation should have the ability to be flexible? 

• 85% of respondents were in some form of 
agreement with the statement that the 
future organisation should have the 
ability to be flexible. 

• Disagreement with this statement was at 
less than 3% across all the respondents. 

8 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 32



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.5. … that the future organisation is wholly owned by the council? 

• More than a quarter of overall responses 
for this statement, were either uncertain 
or neither in agreement or disagreement.  

• With service providers having the largest 
proportion of neither being in agreement 
or disagreement. 

• 17% of service users had no opinion or 
were unsure of the statement. 

• 31% of both local residents and carers of 
service users respondents were in 
disagreement with the statement. 

• However 58% of employees and 64% of 
service providers were agreement. 

9 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 33



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.6. … that the future organisation is able to generate income? 

• Respondents either strongly agreed or 
tended to agree with the statement that 
the future organisation should be able to 
generate income.  

• With the majority of employees feeling 
strongly about this statement. 

• 6% of local residents and 9% of service 
providers strongly disagreed with this, 
with an overall 10% of respondents being 
in disagreement towards this suggestions. 

10 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 34



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.7. … that the council is able to benefit from any income generated? 

• This statement saw that there was no 
glaringly majority in the overall 
responses. Whilst 21% of respondents 
overall, tended to agree with the 
statement, the same percentage also had 
no opinion on the statement and 20% 
tended to disagree.  

• A quarter of carers strongly disagree with 
the council benefitting from any income 
generated.  

• 45% of local residents were in 
disagreement to some degree with the 
statement. 

11 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 35



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.8. … that the future organisation is able to benefit from any income generated? 

• Respondents felt differently when asked 
about the future organisation benefitting 
from any income generated, opposed to 
the previous question about the council 
benefitting from any income.  

• 41% of responses strongly agreed with 
this statement, with this being the largest 
proportion in each respondent group. 

• Agreement to this statement was 77% 
when compared to the the statement in 
regards to the council being 38%. 

12 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 36



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q1.9. … that stakeholders of the new organisation(such as employees or the community) are able to benefit from any income generated? 

• This statement had the largest proportion 
of responses, which neither agreed or 
disagreed amongst all the statements. 
With 55% of service providers selecting 
this answer. 

• An equal proportion of carers and local 
residents tended to agree with this 
statement. 

• Although amongst service users, there 
were 19% who didn’t have an opinion or 
were unsure. 

• Just over half of the total responses for 
this statement were in some form of 
agreement with this statement. 

13 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Other

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

A service user

A provider of services

A Local Resident

A carer of a service user

P
age 37



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q3.1. How important is the level of control and influence of the council 

• An equal proportion of service users felt 
that the council’s control and influence 
was important and very important. 

• However with other respondent groups, 
there was a larger percentage on it being 
important, rather than very important, 
with  55% of service providers 
responding with important against 27% 
feeling that it was very important.  

• 15% of carers felt that the level of control 
and influence was not important. 

• 23% of service users were unable to 
provide an opinion on the statement. 

14 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

-

Important

No opinion

Not important

Slightly important

Very important

(blank)

A carer of a service user

A Local Resident

A provider of services

A service user

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

Other

P
age 38



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q3.3. How important is the level of control and influence of service users 

• 86% of all respondents felt that the level 
of control and influence of service users 
was either important or very important. 

• 15% of service users were unable to 
provide an opinion on the statement. 

• Less than 1% of respondents felt that it 
was not important at all. 

15 

0 100 200 300 400

-

Important

No opinion

Not important

Slightly important

Very important

(blank)

A carer of a service user

A Local Resident

A provider of services

A service user

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

Other

P
age 39



Consultation Survey Findings 
Q3.4. How important is the level of control and influence by other stakeholders? 

• The majority of respondents feel that the 
level of control and influence of other 
stakeholders is very important.  

• With service providers having the highest 
proportion of responses in “Very 
important” at 73% of total responses for 
this question. 

• Only 1% of respondents felt that this was 
not important. 

16 

0 50 100 150 200 250

-

Important

No opinion

Not important

Slightly important

Very important

(blank)

A carer of a service user

A Local Resident

A provider of services

A service user

An employee of Cheshire East
Council

Other

P
age 40



  
 

 
 
Title: Congleton Minor Injuries Unit  

 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   

 
  

1.1 The Congleton Minor Injuries Unit is a nurse-led service currently 
provided from Monday to Friday between 10am and 18:00h. During the 
winter of 2018/19 the service closed at weekends to support the 
deployment of the nurse to the ED at Macclesfield where staffing 
pressures are greater and the most acute patients are treated.  

 
The MIU is currently open 

Monday to Friday and 
closed at weekends. 

 
In the context of sustained 
operational and workforce 

pressures at the ED it is 
proposed that weekend 

closure will continue.   

1.2 Since April 2019, seasonal pressures have not alleviated, which also 
reflects the national position. The plan to close during weekends over the 
winter period has therefore been extended over the summer months given 
ongoing staffing and activity pressures at the ED in Macclesfield.  

1.3 In this context it is proposed that the current approach to provision of the 
Congleton minor injuries service continues, maintaining a Monday to 
Friday service, with no change to the current opening times. This will be 
reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

 2 EMERGENCY CARE PROVISION 

 2.1 East Cheshire Trust provides emergency access in two facilities namely 
Macclesfield Emergency Department (ED) and Congleton Minor Injury 
Unit (MIU). 

 2.2 The Macclesfield site provides care for circa 48,000 people per annum and is 
classed as a “Type 1 facility” receiving ambulances and providing open 
access care and treatment 24h per day 365 days per year.  It should be noted 
however ambulances will not bring patients with certain conditions to 
Macclesfield but would take them to the nearest specialist centre for example 
a heart attack or stroke. This is in line with best clinical practice.  

 2.3 For context in Cheshire East the Emergency Department at Leighton which 
sees circa 93,000 patients per annum (including type 3 activity at the Victoria 
Infirmary in Northwich). 

Congleton Minor Injuries 
Unit treats circa 2000 

patients per annum, 75% of 
which are registered with a 

Congleton GP   

2.4 Congleton treats circa 2,000 patients per annum and is classed as a type 3 
facility, which sees minor injuries such as:  

• Sprains 
• Cuts  
• Minor burns and  
• Minor finger dislocation 

Page 41 Agenda Item 7



   

Analysis of patient attendances shows that 75% of patients treated at 
Congleton are registered with a Congleton GP. 

 
 

A range of alternative minor 
injury services are available 

to residents during 
weekends  

2.5 The MIU is open from 10am to 18:00h during the week and is closed at 
weekends. When the MIU is closed at weekends the residents can access 
advice and support for the management of minor injuries at: 

• Local Primary Care facilities  
• Pharmacies 
• Haywood Community Hospital Walk-in Centre, Burslem,   
• Macclesfield ED  
• Leighton ED  

• Victoria Infirmary MIU, Northwich 

 
3 PERFORMANCE & ACTIVITY 

It is generally recognised 
that pressures on health 

services that were 
historically felt over the 

winter period have not 
abated 

3.1 Many trusts nationally have been unable to meet the national urgent care 
standard of admitting, transferring or discharging 95% of patients from 
ED within 4 hours.  

East Cheshire Trust remains challenged. Performance in August was 81% 
which compares to MCFT at 78%, the Northwest average of 86% and a 
national average of 88%  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3.2 Nationally and regionally there has been growth in ED attendances.  

Table 1 below indicates a 4.9% year on year comparative growth in ED 
attendances at Macclesfield, increasing operational pressures.  
 

 
ED weekday attendances are not dissimilar with Sundays and Mondays 
being the busiest days. 

Average Attends ED Mon Tue Wed Th Fri Sat Su 

2019_20 (to 22nd Sept 19) 156 138 134 131 130 131 144 

For comparative purposes Leighton/ Victoria Infirmary is seeing growth 
of circa 9% this financial year compared to last. 

Table 1 

Month ED attends 
2019 

ED attends 
2018 Diff %  

Sep 4,238 3,924   

Aug 4,264 3,851 
 

 

Jul 4,321 4,255 
 

 

Jun 4,066 3,980 
 

 

May 4,279 4,251 
 

 

Apr 4,102 3,820 
 

 

Total 25,270 24,081 +1,189 +4.9% 

Chairman:  Lynn McGill 

Chief Executive:  John Wilbraham 

 

Page 42



   

 4 CONGLETON MIU 

The closure of MIU at 
weekends has continued 

with an average of 10 
patients per day being seen 

on weekdays 

4.1 During the winter period 2018/19 the Trust planned to close the unit over 
the weekends to assist in managing the pressure at the Macclesfield site. 
As pressure in the ED has continued, the MIU has continued to be closed 
at weekends. 

  

4.2 

 
Table 2 indicates 299 fewer patients have been seen at the MIU compared to 
the same period last year.   

 
 
Since April 2019 there have been 1,024 attends at MIU and the unit was 
open for 107 week days (an average of 9.6 patients per day).  

Table 2 

Month 
MIU attends 

2019 
(weekdays 

only) 

MIU attends 
2018 

 
Diff %  

Sep 202 188   

Aug 148 223 
 

 

Jul 219 246 
 

 

Jun 172 252 
 

 

May 142  220 
 

 

Apr 141 194 
 

 

Total 1,024 1,323 -299 -29% 

The MIU has been open 
more frequently in recent 

months and in August was 
open on weekdays for 82% 

of the time. 

 

4.3 

 
The pattern of MIU closure over the past 12 months is shown in more detail 
in table 3.  

Table 3 

Month Weekdays in 
Month Open Closed % Open 

Aug-19 22 18 4 82% 

Jul-19 23 20 3 87% 

Jun-19 20 20 0 100% 

May-19 23 14 9 61% 

Apr-19 22 14 8 64% 

Mar-19 21 11 10 52% 

Feb-19 20 14 6 70% 

Jan-19 23 19 4 83% 

Dec-18 21 14 7 67% 

Nov-18 22 15 7 68% 

Oct-18 23 17 6 74% 

Sep-18 20 17 3 85% 

   

Chairman:  Lynn McGill 

Chief Executive:  John Wilbraham 

 

Page 43



   

 5 STAFFING 

 5.1 The introduction of the National Junior Doctor contract has reduced the 
number of weekends that junior doctors can work. It is essential that 
senior nursing resources are optimised.   

There are currently 10 
vacant nursing staff posts 

in MDGH Emergency 
Department 

 

5.2 East Cheshire’s vacancy rate for nursing staff compares well across 
Cheshire and Wirral providers however there are 10 vacant posts at the 
current time in the Macclesfield Emergency Department.  

The Congleton Unit is staffed with one experienced senior nurse (ENP) 
each day. 

At weekends the clinical teams agree that the one member of staff at 
Congleton should be deployed to support the Emergency Department at 
Macclesfield where patients with more acute needs are treated. 

East Cheshire Trust staff are often willing to undertake additional shifts to 
cover the vacancies however the trust like many departments across the 
country use agency staff to cover rota gaps.  The level of expenditure on 
agency nurse staffing in ED for the first 5 months of 2019/20 is £233,304.  

The trust has an effective 
process in place to deploy 
staffing resources to meet 

clinical priorities   

5.3 When the Department comes under heightened pressure the Consultant 
and Senior Nurse in ED review the position in terms of maintaining 
patient safety and should they deem it necessary then the ENP at 
Congleton will be brought back into the main department at short notice. 
Whilst seeking to maintain a weekday service, the unit may close at short 
notice during the week should staffing and demand at the Macclesfield 
site require the staff rostered at Congleton. Where such short notice 
weekday closure is required the Trust updates its website and informs the 
111 service to try to alert the local population to prevent wasted journeys.  

 6 CONCLUSION 

 6.1 Demand at the Macclesfield site has not abated since the traditional winter 
period ended and the Trust must allocate its staff to where patient 
demand and clinical acuity is greatest. 

Consultant and Senior 
Nurses will continue to 
assess the demands at 

MDGH and make the 
judgement to redeploy staff 

when necessary to 
maintain patient safety  

6.2 In addition to increased demand at Macclesfield, reductions in the number 
of junior doctors rostered at the weekends in Macclesfield ED requires the 
deployment of limited senior nursing resource from the MIU to the ED. 
This means that the weekend closure of the MIU will continue for the 
foreseeable future. 

6.3 The number of weekday closures at Congleton has reduced however the 
Emergency Department medical and nursing staff assesse the demands at 
Macclesfield and make the clinical judgment to transfer staff between 
Congleton and Macclesfield as required. 

The sickest emergency patients are in the Macclesfield Emergency 

Chairman:  Lynn McGill 

Chief Executive:  John Wilbraham 

 

Page 44



   

Department and the ability to redeploy available resources to meet the 
needs of clinical priorities is essential to maintain patient safety.   

 6.4 At the current time therefore despite the traditional winter period being 
over the Trust will maintain the weekend closure of the MIU. 

Signed 
Date 

 John Wilbraham, Chief Executive Officer 

02 October 2018 

 

Chairman:  Lynn McGill 

Chief Executive:  John Wilbraham 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 
1 

 
 

Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 

Report Title:  Impact of Winter Pressures on Delayed Transfers of Care 

Performance 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Laura Jeuda (Adults Social Care and Health) 

Senior Officer:  Linda Couchman, Interim Strategic Director of Adult Social Care 

and Health 

 
1. Report Summary 

1.1. This report considers the impact of winter pressures on DTOC performance 

for the winter period for 2018/19. The report comprises of the following 

areas:  

 Winter pressures faced  

 Solutions which were implemented locally and  

 What impact this had on DTOC performance 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. That Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes 

the winter pressures faced during the winter period and notes the actions 

taken to ensure effective performance.  

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. The Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in February 2019 requested a further update on Delayed 

Transfers of Care in relation to the winter pressures faced. This report 

notes the winter pressures faced along with the action taken.  

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. This section is not applicable.  

Page 47 Agenda Item 8



 

OFFICIAL 

5. Background 

5.1. In February 2019 a report was presented to Health and Adult Social Care 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee which detailed the progress achieved 

across Cheshire East in reducing Delayed Transfers of Care following a 

‘Deep dive’ in 2017. Following on from this report, the Health and Adult 

Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee have requested a further 

report which highlights the impacts of 2018/19 winter pressures on DTOC 

performance.  

DTOC definition   

 

5.2. Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) from acute or non-acute (including 

community and mental health) care occurs when a patient is ready to 

depart from such care and is still occupying a bed. A patient is ready for 

transfer when: 

 

 A clinical decision has been made that the patient is ready for 

transfer and 

 A multidisciplinary team decision has been made that the patient is 

ready for transfer and 

 The patient is safe to discharge/transfer. 

 

5.3. Cheshire East Council along with its local system partners has a DTOC 

target of 733 total DTOC days per month across the system and a 3.5% 

DTOC target per hospital site. These commitments and targets are linked 

to the Better Care Fund.  

 

5.4. Significant progress has been made to reduce DTOC in the two years since 

the last review with monthly DTOC’s reducing from approximately 2,000 

days per month to approximately 1,000 days per month. However more 

effort and focus is required to reduce this further.  

 

Winter pressures faced 

5.5. There were a number of pressures faced during the winter period during 

2018/19, health and social care pressures faced over the winter period 

were impacted by the: cold weather which increases colds and cold-like 

illnesses as well as bronchitis and pneumonia  in people with weakened 

immune systems. These illnesses in our vulnerable residents lead to 

increased hospital admissions and increased hospital stays. To reduce this 

system pressure vulnerable residents are encouraged to take up the offer 

of a flu vaccine.  

Page 48



 

OFFICIAL 
3 

Cold weather  

5.6. While it is a given that the outside temperature will drop in winter, the 

impact of cold weather on people's health is not restricted to the months of 

December to February. Moderately cold weather (when the average daily 

temperature falls below between 5–8oC) has a significant impact on 

people's health. Each 1oC drop in average daily temperature below this 

level results in around 4% increase in death rates in England. On average, 

there are 64 days of moderately cold weather – where the mean daily 

temperature falls below 5oC – each year in England.  

5.7. On average, there are only 23 days a year when the mean temperature 

falls below 2oC and only 8 below zero. Moderately cold weather also 

causes an increase in emergency hospital admissions – although the effect 

is smaller than for mortality, with an increase of approximately 1% in 

admissions for each 1oC drop in temperature below the threshold. As with 

mortality, the impact is greatest for older people and for admissions for 

cardiovascular and respiratory illnesses. 

5.8. In Cheshire East for the period December 2018 to February 2019  the 

tempreature across Macclesfiled and Crewe were as follows: 

5.9. Table 1 – Macclesfield temperature 2018/19 (Dec/Feb) 

 Dec Jan Feb 

Max 7 5 9 

Average 6 3 6 

Min 5 2 4 

 
5.10. Table 2 – Crewe temperature 2018/19 (Dec/Feb) 

 Dec Jan Feb 

Max 9 6 11 

Average 7 4 8 

Min 5 2 4 

 
5.11. The tables show that the recent winter (December 2018 to February 2019) 

was moderate in nature with a number of the tempratures appearing inside 

the 5oC - 8oC range. On two of the measures the temperature fell to 2oC. 

Nationally its shown that admissions for injuries do not increase over the 

winter period. A&E attendance rates are lower in winter than in summer, 

but in winter people are more likely to be admitted. Respiratory illnesses 

account for a higher proportion of A&E attendances in winter than summer, 

accounting for up to 15% of all attendances. 

Increased hospital admissions  

Page 49



 

OFFICIAL 

5.12. Primary care deals with most of the increase in winter-related illness. Small 

changes in the ability of primary care teams to manage peaks in demand 

become amplified across the wider care system. The number of A&E 

attendances actually decreases in winter, but the proportion of people 

admitted increases. 

Length of stay increases  

5.13. Nationally a higher proportion of patients experience longer lengths of stay 

in winter meaning hospitals have less flexibility to manage demand. 

Flu uptake  

5.14. The main groups at increased risk of death during periods of moderately 

cold weather are older people and those with chronic respiratory conditions. 

People with heart disease and related illnesses are also affected, and we 

also include people suffering from injury, hypothermia and other external 

causes in this list. Flu epidemics have a major impact when they occur, but 

there is significant variation from year to year in how many people and 

which groups are affected. 

The configuration and availability of services 

5.15. The national picture shows that over Christmas and New Year, patients' 

use of health services changes. Typically general practices are closed for 

the three bank holidays over the holiday period; this in turn results in fewer 

GP appointments in December than November or January. Calls to the 111 

service increase in December, but the data on advice given to patients 

suggests that the patients have less urgent needs overall: as a proportion 

of calls, fewer patients are advised to attend A&E, and a higher proportion 

are referred back to their GP. 

5.16. The picture and analysis nationally shows that the profile of patients in 

hospital also changes over the same period. Hospitals discharge as many 

patients as possible before Christmas, so people can spend Christmas at 

home. There are also very few planned operations. Although A&E 

attendances are not usually high in December or January, the number of 

admissions from A&E increases. In East Cheshire Trust the following 

observations were noted in relation to hospital performance: 

Table 3 – East Cheshire Trust  

Plan Actual 

Page 50



 

OFFICIAL 
5 

Ambition to achieve 90% Apr to 
Feb - 95% A&E 4 Hour Standard 

March 2019 achieved 77% A&E 4 
Hour Standard 

Bed occupancy < 90% during the 
months December to March 

March - Bed Occupancy 97.6% 

Reduce long stay (super stranded) 
numbers from 57 to 42 (26% 
reduction) 

January - 52 (9% reduction) 

 
5.17. Hospital beds fill up with patients admitted as an emergency. These are 

more likely to be older patients who stay in hospital for longer. Higher bed 

occupancy has an impact on the ability of hospitals to manage peaks in 

demand, and to admit patients who are waiting in A&E: once occupancy 

reaches 92%, hospitals are increasingly likely to be unable to admit 

patients within the current four-hour target. 

5.18. In East Cheshire the configuration and availability of services was noted 

and recognised in the recent winter plan for 2018/19. Commissioners and 

Primary Care providers have worked on a programme to develop GP 

surgery based winter plans focused on key themes.  Good practice has 

been identified to include: 

 Several Practices contribute to Snow White (Urgent Care - Whole 

System Overview) 

 Several Practices are providing extra GP and or Nursing Sessions 

 One Practice has cancelled all annual leave from 22 December to 04 

January 

 Several Practices have increased asthma/COPD Clinics and sending 

out rescue packs in October 

 Increased awareness and action when East Cheshire NHS Trust is on 

OPEL4, OPEL is the Operational Pressures Escalation Levels 

framework.  

It sets out the procedures across the system to manage day to day 

variations in demand across the health and social care system as well 

as the procedures for managing significant surges in demand. 

 TV screens to update patients and showing the #helpingflo video 

 Catch up Flu Vaccination Clinics every lunchtime 

 One Practice has 4 pre-paid mobiles available for emergency  

 
Solutions which were implemented locally  

5.19. A range of solutions were implemented to mitigate the winter pressures 

noted earlier to help maintain effective performance. The solutions noted 

Page 51



 

OFFICIAL 

through winter plans encompassed a range of solutions, the plans 

themselves were produced across the system by commissioning and 

provider organisations. These organisations covered: primary care, acute 

trusts, CCG’s the local authority, health and social care providers amongst 

others.  

Winter planning overview 

5.20. There are a number of funding streams which contribute towards winter 

planning which includes a grant of £1.45m paid directly to the local 

authority, Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund which 

contributes £1m and separate funding provided from CCG’s and health 

partners which totals £1.9m. In addition to this there were headroom 

monies from BCF/iBCF of £181k. In total the amount of available funding 

for winter schemes is approximately £4.53m across the Cheshire East 

HWB footprint. 

5.21. All local A&E Delivery Boards are required to submit comprehensive winter 

plans (covering 1 December to Easter). In addition to any local initiatives 

already planned or underway, this should cover the following key themes: 

5.22. Ensuring that good practice in patient flow is embedded across all part of 

the emergency patient pathway, not just in isolated departments or wards 

as described in the Keogh Review’s ‘Safer, Faster, Better’ (2015) and ‘The 

Good Practice Guide: Focus on Patient Flow’ (2017);  

 Collaborating with ambulance services and primary care to monitor 

illness patterns in the local community and weather changes that may 

affect specific patient cohorts and take proactive action in anticipation of 

demand surges; 

 Focus on supporting care homes and the frail, elderly population; 

 Front door streaming within Emergency Departments; 

 Good practice patient flow within hospitals; 

 Safe and effective discharge; 

 Better planning for peaks in demand over weekends and bank holiday.  

 
5.23. The winter plan focusses on the initiatives and capacity requirements 

required to maintain safe patient care, to manage the impact of winter 

pressures and to support the achievement of the Emergency Access 

Standard trajectory. 

5.24. Nationally £240 million of additional funding in 2018-19 and 2019-20 for 

councils to spend on adult social care services to help councils alleviate 

winter pressures on the NHS. The local allocation to Cheshire East Council 

for 2018/19 was £1,450,638.  

Page 52



 

OFFICIAL 
7 

5.25. Councils have been allocated the funding based on the adult social care 

relative needs formula. The extra funding is aimed at reducing delayed 

transfers of care and could pay for the following: 

 home care packages to help patients get out of hospital quicker 

 reablement packages, which support workers to help patients carry out 
everyday tasks and regain mobility and confidence 

 home adaptations, including new facilities for personal care, such as 
adapting a shower room if a patient has limited movement 

 
5.26. This money was paid to local government, via a Local Government Act 

2003 section 31 grant. Government l attached a set of conditions, requiring 

the funding to be used to alleviate pressures on the NHS over winter, and 

for 2019/20 to ensure it is pooled into the BCF.  

5.27. This funding does not replace, and must not be offset against, the NHS 

minimum contribution to adult social care within the BCF.. The Grant 

Determination was  issued in April 2019. Reporting in relation to this 

funding will be managed through wider BCF reporting. Health and 

Wellbeing Boards will be required to confirm plans for the use of this 

funding in their BCF plans.   

East Cheshire CCG overview  

5.28. The 2018-19 Winter Plan sets out the system response and actions 

required to meet peaks in activity and manage associated risks impacting 

on delivery. The overarching aim is to maintain safety and effective clinical 

outcomes for patients whilst taking account of operational requirements and 

the financial impact of plans. 

5.29. The winter plan builds on the achievements of the five work-streams 

established last year: 

 Clear vision and system leadership  

 Assessment prior to admission  

 Doing today’s work today 

 Frailty model 

 Home first/discharge to assess 
 

5.30. This winter plan is primarily focused on whole system initiatives to reduce 

general and acute demand and improve patient flow and appropriate 

outcomes.  The East Cheshire CCG winter plan noted that key to managing 

winter pressures was to ensure that the uptake of flu vaccinations was 

maximised, within the Cheshire and Merseyside system Cheshire East had 

the best level of flu vaccinations.  

South Cheshire CCG overview  

Page 53



 

OFFICIAL 

5.31. The total values of the schemes were £1,316m. The schemes will support 

the seasonal fluctuations in demand especially within the acute hospital 

setting. The plan is designed to allow the continuing delivery of safe and 

effective clinical services during the times of sessional fluctuation.  

5.32. The required outcomes of winter planning are to ensure that:- 

 A comprehensive winter plan is in place which recognises that demand 
on available services is likely to be at its highest level and identifies 
local areas of risk which need to be mitigated. 

 The Trust’s plan forms part of the overall local health and social care 
plans 

 The provision of high quality services and excellent patient outcomes 
and experiences are maintained through periods of pressure. 

 The impact of pressures on individual services, national performance 
standards and finances are managed effectively. 

 A process is in place to meet the reporting requirements of NHS 
England and NHS Improvement. 

 There are clearly quantifiable escalation arrangements in place with 
plans to provide additional capacity if required. 

 Key risks and lessons learnt from previous years have been identified. 
 

5.33. The winter pressure schemes ensured Mid Cheshire Hospital Trust 

continued to achieve the national 3.5% DTOC target over the winter period. 

Unfortunately the aim for the 95%4 hour target was not met and 

performance decreased from 89.4% in September 2018 to 80.4% in March 

2019 with a 17% increase in attendances compared to the previous month. 

The overall performance for 2018-19 was 83.6%.  

Stranded patients 

5.34. People staying in hospital for more than 7 days are ‘stranded patients’ – 

and 'super stranded patients', are those staying in hospital for 21 days or 

more. These are people who are considered medically fit for discharge. 

Evidence suggests that patients spend time in hospital unnecessarily, and 

that longer lengths of stay are linked to worse outcomes, particularly for frail 

older patients. Furthermore, reducing long lengths of stay could free up 

capacity in hospitals, and enable hospitals to manage their bed capacity 

more flexibly.  

5.35. The East Cheshire Trust winter plan notes the following initiatives to reduce 

stranded patients.  

5.35.1.1. Current active work-streams associated with the ‘Doing Today’s 

Work Today’ improvement programme will continue and be 

established through conversion to business as usual processes.  

Page 54



 

OFFICIAL 
9 

5.35.1.2. A & E delivery board requested the testing of the response from 

Aston Ward and Ward 11 to a major incident declaration and a 

formal exercise has now been concluded.  Exercise “Optimus” took 

place on 13  December 2018 with the aims and objectives: 

5.35.1.3. The system is to react to a major incident, responding as if the 

event is “real”, with a view to decanting a minimum of 17 beds 

between Aston and Ward 11 in order to provide capacity for the 

expected casualties.  With the following objectives:- 

 To develop an appropriate action card for use during a major 
incident (to test the ward staff understanding, actions, 
rationale for decisions) 

 To capture learning for the wider trust and system 

 Capture the themes which ordinarily would “block” patients 
from being transferred to either home or to another service 
and potential solutions 

 

 A number of actions from the exercise are being progressed through 

the key workstreams reporting to ORG. 

 Following the success of similar ‘Perfect Week’/’Breaking the Cycle’ 

initiatives, the trust will be running “Flo’s Perfect Christmas” over the 

Christmas and New Year holiday period. By providing additional 

support to wards and departments, the purpose is to rapidly improve 

patient flow, avoiding outlying beds and a crowded ED. Flo’s Perfect 

Christmas (which links to recent #HelpingFlo campaign) will this ran 

from Thursday 27 December until Friday 04 January 2019.  With 

increased pressure on beds and staffing, other organisations have 

successfully run events during this period with good outcomes as 

they are particularly useful in times of high pressure, for instance 

during bank holiday weeks. Flo is a fictitours patient and the helping 

Flo campaign details the the five top tips for freeing up hospital 

beds. 

 The overall aim is to achieve ward discharges by 10am as it has a 

significant impact on achieving flow throughout the hospital.  A 

number of initiatives will be included in the Perfect Christmas 

including Flo Champions, PDSAs on Rapid Assessment and 

Diagnostics and Minors streaming in ED. 

 The Mid Cheshire Hospital Trust winter plan noted the following 

intitiatives to reduce stranded patiens: 

 A number of additional spot purchase discahrge to assess 

beds were commissioned from January 2019. 

Page 55



 

OFFICIAL 

 A rapid care service was commissioned by the CCG from 

November 2018 with a local domicillary care proivder. The 

service aim was to provide short term support at home for 

resident discharged from hospital whilst longer term 

packages were commissioned. 

 Additional social care support was provided to the hospital, 

to help facilitate timely dischagres.  

5.36. Graph 1 – stranded patients East Cheshire – the number of occupied beds 

for all discharged adult patients in hospital for 21+ days 

 

5.37. The graph shows the number of occupied beds from June 2017 to March 

2019, it shows that the ambition to reduce the number of beds from 57 to 

42 beds (26%) has not been met, it shows for the winter period December 

2018 – February 2019 that the ambition was not met. The position for 

March shows that 53 beds are occupied by long stay patients. The 

reduction achieved to date has been 4 beds or 7%.  

5.38. Graph 2 – stranded patients Mid Cheshire – the number of occupied beds 

for all discharged adult patients in hospital for 21+ days 

Page 56



 

OFFICIAL 
11 

 

5.39. The graph shows the number of occupied beds from June 2017 to March 

2019, it shows that the ambition to reduce the number of beds from 96 to 

71 beds (26%) has not been met, it shows for the winter period December 

2018 – February 2019 that the ambition was not met. The position for 

March shows that 117 beds are occupied by long stay patients. There has 

been an increase to the number of occupied beds by long stay patients; this 

increase is 22 beds 23%.   

Finally what impact has this had on DTOC performance 

5.40. One high profile area in which winter pressure in the NHS has carried 

through to the social care system is in delayed transfers of care (DTOC), or 

an instance when it is clinically safe to discharge a patient from hospital, 

but this is not possible due to a lack of suitable care arrangements being 

available outside of the hospital environment. The result is a prolonged stay 

in hospital for the affected patient. 

5.41. Graph 3 – Cheshire East Council footprint all DTOC for both the NHS and 

Social Care  

 

5.42. The Graph includes the winter period December, January and February 

2018/19. Prior to the winter period the graph shows a downwards trajectory 

Page 57



 

OFFICIAL 

of DTOC performance across Cheshire East. December had 816, January 

had 1,143 and February had 1,097 delayed days as compared to the target 

of 733 delayed days per month.  

5.43. Graph 4 - East Cheshire Trust footprint DTOC for both NHS and Social 

Care  

 

The Graph includes the winter period December, January and February 

2018/19. Prior to the winter period the graph shows a downwards trajectory 

of DTOC performance across the East Cheshire Trust footprint. December 

had 280, January had 366 and February had 328 delayed days this is 

compared to a total target of 498 delayed days per month. The 498 delayed 

days per month is the combined total for both East Cheshire Trust and Mid 

Cheshire Hospitals.  

5.44. Graph 5 – Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust footprint DTOC 

for both NHS and Social Care  

 

5.45. The Graph includes the winter period December, January and February 

2018/19. Prior to the winter period the graph shows a downwards trajectory 

of DTOC performance across the Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust footprint. December had 202, January had 409 and February had 376 

this is compared to a total target of 498 delayed days per month. The 498 

delayed days per month is the combined total for both East Cheshire Trust 

and Mid Cheshire Hospitals.  

5.46. Graph 6 – Reason for delay - Cheshire East Council footprint all DTOC for 

both the NHS and Social Care 

Page 58



 

OFFICIAL 
13 

 

5.47. The graph shows the total DTOC days for 2018/19 by reasons, it shows 

that the total number of delayed days is 8,401 of this the top three reasons 

for delay are as follows: 2,354 Further non-acute NHS, 1,897 Care package 

in own home and 1389 Nursing home. This data excludes those Cheshire 

East residents which are DTOC’s outside of those hospital trusts listed.  

5.48. Graph 7 – Location of delay  

 

5.49. The graph shows the location of delays for DTOC days for 2018/19, it 

shows that the top three sources of delay are as follows: East Cheshire 

NHS Trust 38.36%, Mid Cheshire Hospital trust 29.60% and Cheshire and 

Wirral partnership with 10.38% of delays. Of all of the delays 32.04% take 

place outside of the two trusts which fall inside the Cheshire East HWB 

footprint.  

5.50. Graph 8 – Non Elective Admissions  

 

5.51. The graph shows the number of Non Elective Admission across the 

Cheshire East footprint per 100,000 people. The graph shows that Non 

Elective Admissions were 1,440 in December, 1,510 in January and 1,377 

in February.  

Summary   

5.52. There were a number of pressures faced across the Cheshire East system 

during the winter period, against these pressures it was a moderately cold 

winter which helped to ensure that A&E attendances and admissions didn’t 

dramatically increase. Winter plans were implemented which recognised 

Page 59



 

OFFICIAL 

the need to add to the capacity, availability and configuration of services 

available. There was maximised uptake of Flu vaccinations all of which 

contributed to good DTOC performance in December. In January and 

February DTOC performance worsened with a spike of Non Elective 

Admissions occurring in January contributing to this. More generally the 

impact on DTOC performance must include consideration of a range of 

variable factors which also include factors outside of the Cheshire East 

HWB footprint as noted previously 32.04% of delays come from outside of 

the footprint 

Next steps 

5.53. A range of winter planning meetings have been scheduled to take place 

each month, this is to aid the winter planning process for Cheshire East 

Council. This is to ensure:  greater coordination, reduced duplication 

Further to this a range of operational and strategic meetings have been 

scheduled to take place to consider Adult Social Care DTOC to give greater 

focus with the aim of achieving a reduction in those delays.   

6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. Legal Implications 

6.1.1. There are no direct legal implications arising from the report but CEC 

Legal Services have been consulted at this stage and will support in 

relation to any specific legal issues that arise in the future. 

 

6.2. Finance Implications 

6.2.1. The Health and Social Care sector remains under intense financial 

pressure with demands for services exceeding the limited resources 

available. 

 

6.2.2. The NHS has recently been given a long term funding settlement that 

will lead to an extra £20.5 billion pounds being invested in the NHS over 

the next 5 years. Further work is being undertaken that will translate this 

national investment down to local plans and actions on the ground across 

the Council’s footprint. In addition, further clarity is required in terms of a 

number of factors affecting funding going forward. This includes the next 

Comprehensive Spending Review, later in 2019 and also, the publication 

of the long awaited Adults Social Care Green paper. Performance 

against national metrics is considered on a regular basis by the BCF 

Governance Group and resources are redirected to maintain / improve 

performance when the affordability position allows 

Page 60



 

OFFICIAL 
15 

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. There are a number of implications which arise from the report which 

include ensuring the lessons learnt from the winter period 2018/19 are 

included and brought into winter planning for 2019/20. 

6.4. Equality Implications 

6.4.1. As the leaders for our local health and social care economy, all 

partners in Cheshire East are conversant and complaint with the Equality 

Act 2010. 

6.5. Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1. Poor performance against national metrics could see intervention and 

escalation process implemented that could see funds directed differently, 

which in turn could bring with it human resource implications. 

 

6.6. Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1. As noted previously, ultimately poor performance against a national 

BCF metric could see funds directed elsewhere.  

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people. 

6.9. Public Health Implications 

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health. 

6.10. Climate Change Implications 

6.10.1. This report has noted the winter pressures faced during 2018/19 and 

how this has impacted on DTOC performance. Within the next steps 

it was identified that further coordination and collaboration within 

Cheshire East will occur during the 2019/20 winter planning period, 

greater coordination will ensure any duplication of effort is avoided 

which in turn will ensure a reduced carbon footprint.  

7. Ward Members Affected 

7.1.  The implications are borough wide. 

8. Consultation & Engagement 

Page 61



 

OFFICIAL 

8.1. Consultation and engagement with CCG partners has taken place.  

9. Access to Information 

9.1. Not applicable  

10. Contact Information 

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

Name: Alex Jones 

Job Title: Better Care Fund Programme Manager 

Email: Alex.t.jones@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 62

mailto:Alex.t.jones@cheshireeast.gov.uk


  

OFFICIAL 
1 

 

Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date of Meeting:  10 October 2019 

Report Title:  Connected Communities Centres  

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Mick Warren - Communities 

Author:   Dan Coyne – Community Development Manager 

Senior Officer:  Mark Palethorpe – Acting Executive Director of People 

1. Introduction and Policy Context 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on progress to date on 

the Council’s Connected Communities Centres (CCC). 

2. Background  

2.1. The Cabinet Member for Communities approved a pilot social franchise 

model for Community Hubs on the 20th July 2015. A model was adopted 

and monitored for development.1  

2.2. Cabinet agreed to a set of changes based on learning from the pilot 

franchise model in the Connected to Services report on 14th March 2017.2  

2.3. Detailed amendments to the franchise model were then approved by the 

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Communities on 11th July 2017 which 

outlined the expectations and criteria for being awarded the social franchise 

status3.  

2.4. The revised social franchise model, based on consultation with local 

stakeholders included the following: 
                                                           
1
   Decision: That approval be given to the suggested approach to Community Hubs 

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1669  
2
 Connected to Services report on 14th March 2017. 

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=6109&Ver=4   
3
 Franchise model amendments 

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1975  

Page 63 Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1669
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=6109&Ver=4
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1975


 

OFFICIAL 

 To display CCC signage 

 To be provided with a secured tablet that will have access to a local 
directory of services (Livewell website) 

 To award grant funding of up to £5,000 for a period of two years  to 
reserve the use of the facilities (equivalent to 5 hours of room hire 
per week based on £10 per hour) for the delivery of early 
intervention and prevention services which will be decided by their 
local network/neighbourhood partnership 

 An open day (show case of services) will be arranged from awarded 
franchisee building to inform the community what services could be 
delivered 

 An invitation to a biannual conference to allow networking between 
franchisees 

 Long term aim will be for the CCC to become the flagship venue for 
service delivery in the footprint it is located within, we will be working 
with commissioners and providers to support this. 

 To be located in the CCC identified priority locations including our 
towns and neighbourhoods within the top 25% areas nationally for 
overall deprivation  

 Each venue will continue to be quality assured through the 
completion of a Community and Voluntary Sector quality mark 
known as GRIPPP. 

2.5. The initial proposal was for an allocated sum to support the set up and 

development of 30 CCC in the Borough in towns and areas of deprivation 

acting as a single point of access for a range of Community Wellbeing and 

Early Intervention and Prevention type services. 

2.6. The CCC are an essential part of the Connected Communities Strategy 

which highlights the importance of physcial community assets, partnership 

working and empowering local residents to connect with their own 

communities4.  

 

 

3. Briefing Information 

3.1. Connected Communities Centres: The building as a community asset:  

To date 27 CCC franchise offers have been awarded, across 40 facilities 

(some facilities are sharing the offer or not receiving any financial gain, 

                                                           
4
 Connected Communities Strategy 

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s51805/Connected%20Communities%20-
%20appendix.pdf  

Page 64

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s51805/Connected%20Communities%20-%20appendix.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s51805/Connected%20Communities%20-%20appendix.pdf


  

OFFICIAL 
3 

such as the Cheshire East libraries) with 28 of those facilities open as CCC 

and details accessible via the Open Data Portal5 and lists below.  

Grant 
recieved 

No. Venue Location Status 

Pilot £2,000 1 Audlem Public Hall Audlem Open 

Pilot £2,000 2 Bridgend Centre Bollington Open 

£5,000 3 St Barnabas Church Crewe Central Open 

£5,000 4 The Welcome Café Knutsford, Longridge Open 

£5,000 5 Jubilee House  Crewe Central Open 

£5,000 6 St Johns Church Macclesfield, Weston and 
Ivy 

Open 

£5,000 7 Beechmere Extracare 
Village  

Crewe North and St 
Barnabas 

Open 

£5,000 8 The Georges Community 
Centre 

Crewe North and St 
Barnabas 

Open 

£5,000 9 St Andrews Parish Hall Crewe South Open 

£5,000 10 Belong  Crewe South Open 

£5,000 11 Poynton Civic Hall Poynton  Open 

£5,000 12 Church of the Resurrection Broken Cross and Upton 
Priory  

Open 

£5,000 13 Green in the Corner 
Community Café 

Macclesfield, Hurdsfield Open 

£5,000 14 St Barnabas Church Macclesfield South Open 

£5,000 15 United Reformed Church Wilmslow West & Chorley Open 

£5,000 16 United Reformed Church  Macclesfield Central  Open 

£5,000 17 Oakmere Extra Care 
Housing  

Handforth  Open 

Library £0 18 Holmes Chapel Library  Holmes Chapel  Open 

Split Holmes 
Chapel offer of 
£5,000 across 
2 venues 

19 Everybody Leisure 
Community Centre  

Dane Valley  Open 

20 Goostrey Village Hall Dane Valley  Open 

Split Bromley 
farm offer of 
£5,000 across 
2 venues 

21 Bromley Farm Wellbeing 
Hub 

Congleton East  Open 

22 Bromley Farm Community 
Development Trust  

Congleton East  Open 

Split 
Congleton 
town offer of 
£5,000 across 
2 venues 

23 Ruby’s Fund  Congleton East  Open 

24 The Old Saw Mill  Congleton West Open 

£5,000 25 Booth Lane Methodist 
Church  

Middlewich, Cledford Open 

£5,000 26 Victoria Hall Middlewich Town   Open 

                                                           
5
 Open Data Portal mapping Connected Communties Centres https://opendata-

cheshireeast.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/a3eb58fae7cf4d5089d4023484cef2b8_0/data?page=3  

Page 65

https://opendata-cheshireeast.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/a3eb58fae7cf4d5089d4023484cef2b8_0/data?page=3
https://opendata-cheshireeast.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/a3eb58fae7cf4d5089d4023484cef2b8_0/data?page=3


 

OFFICIAL 

£5,000 27 Changing Lives 
Community Centre 

Crewe East Open 

£5,000 28 Stapley Village Hall Nantwich North & Stapley Open 

Library £0 29 Nantwich Library Nantwich Awaiting 
Open Day 

Library £0 30 Sandbach Library Sandbach Awaiting 
Open Day 

£5,000 31 Lighthouse Centre Crewe West Awaiting 
Open Day 

£5,000 32 Sherbourne Bungalows Crewe East Awaiting 
Open Day 

£5,000 33 Open Arms Wilmslow Dean Row  Awaiting 
Open Day 

Library £0 34 Alsager Library Alsager Awaiting 
Open Day 

Library £0 35 Middlewich Library Middlewich Awaiting 
Open Day 

Split 
Sandbach 
offer of £5,000 
across 3 
venues 
 

36 Ettiley Heath Methodist 
Church 

Sandbach Ettiley Heath 
and Wheelock 

Awaiting 
Open Day 

37 Sandbach Methodist 
Church 

Sandbach Town Awaiting 
Open Day 

38 Union Street Community 
Centre 

Sandbach Heath and East Awaiting 
Open Day 

£5,000 39 Knutsford Community 
Hospital, Knutsford 

Knutsford Community 
Hospital, Knutsford 

Awaiting 
Open Day 

Library £0 40 Wilmslow Library Wilmslow East Awaiting 
Open Day 

 

3.1.1. To date the Connected Communities Centres have housed between 

60-70 different external providers (most of which now deliver from more 

than one Centre) to outreach or permanently base from the CCC; this is 

to place the right services where people can get greatest access to 

them whilst promoting collaboration between providers whilst they are 

co-located. Examples of some of these service providers/projects are 

as follows:  

 Employment Support (inc DWP) 

 Mental Health Services 

 Youth provision 

 Parental Classes 

 Nutrition and Health Classes (inc falls prevention) 

 Flu Clinics 

 Social Isolation Provision 

 Drug and Alcohol Services 

 Police Drop in Services  

 Conversational English Classes 

Page 66



  

OFFICIAL 
5 

Using a range of available data and local intelligence from key 

stakeholders and local residents the CCC work with existing services to 

ensure what services are required for the population surrounding the 

centre and to maximise the outcomes in the areas of most need.  

 

Case study of a re-housed project in a CCC in Wilmslow: 

CCC United Reformed Church in Wilmslow is supporting ‘CISFA - 

’Chronic Illness Support For All’ by subsidising room hire for a peer-led 

support group for adults and teens living with chronic illnesses. This 

provides an opportunity for socialisation and formation of new 

friendships with people who truly understand how it feels to live with 

chronic illness. Mrs J who runs the group said ‘We moved our support 

group into The Undercroft from a public coffee shop 3 weeks ago and 

the difference it has made both in terms of activities we can offer and 

the calming affect it has on our members is incredible.  From a busy 

loud coffee shop to a big spacious room all to ourselves has enabled us 

to provide both relaxation and distraction activities such as water colour 

painting, mindfulness colouring and meditation. All our members have 

chronic illness and this relaxed friendly home from home space is just 

perfect for us’. 

 

3.1.2. On average around 250 people come through the CCC to access these 

services per week (each venue varies). Each CCC is unique and has a 

look and feel dependant on the community it serves and the provision 

of services it houses6. This approach contributes towards strategic 

outcome number 5 that people live well and for longer accessing early 

intervention and prevention services which focus on the physical and 

mental wellbeing of our Cheshire East residents. 

 

3.1.3. Using the CCC as service delivery points Cheshire East Council 

commissioned contracts now advise services to be delivered from the 

centres where appropriate. Providers are asked to considering how 

they can provide any early intervention and prevention service across 

the Borough not just from limited locations but making the service more 

accessible in the areas required. To date we have had four 

Commissioned areas of work that have incorporated this within the 

specification, they are as follows: 

 Integrated Carers Hub 

 Substance Misuse Service 

 Social Isolation (Pathfinder CiC) Contract 

                                                           
6
 The Welcome Café monthly update https://us20.campaign-

archive.com/?u=c119948016096aa079a751e66&id=d9e3d10244  

Page 67

https://us20.campaign-archive.com/?u=c119948016096aa079a751e66&id=d9e3d10244
https://us20.campaign-archive.com/?u=c119948016096aa079a751e66&id=d9e3d10244


 

OFFICIAL 

 Universal Information and Advice Contract  

 

3.2. Neighbourhood Partnerships: The network as a community asset: 

Each CCC has an associated neighbourhood partnership made up of local 

stakeholders from the area linked to it. The role of the partnership is to 

identify local priorities, support the relocating of services to the CCC to 

support local delivery, develop local partnership projects, inspire local 

people to develop initiatives to be delivered from the CCC and promote the 

CCC as the single point of access in the community for Community 

Wellbeing. Some partnerships made the decision to share the allocated 

budget for 1 CCC across more than one facility hence why we have a 

number of split sites, this decision has been made due to the local 

intelligence gained around the dynamics of the area. To date we have 15 

Neighbourhood Partnerships across the borough within in excess of 200 

different partners/agencies dedicated to this work this network of 

Neighbourhood Partnerships7  

Each Neighbourhood Partnership has a working action plan see Appendix 

1 “2019/2020 Nantwich Neighbourhood Partnership Action Plan” for an 

example on how the work locally is being captured. 

 

Case study of a partnership project developed locally in Crewe: 

Working in partnership with Connected Community Centre (Belong Extra-

care) and Cheshire College, CEC Community Development Officer 

facilitated a work experience placement for Performing Arts students.  This 

collaborative project offered community cohesion to Belong customers by 

benefiting from person centred music therapy, live music sessions and 

bespoke playlists created for Belong customers by Cheshire College 

students, helping to combat loneliness and isolation caused by Dementia.  

The project provided an intergenerational connection between college 

students and elderly Belong residents, resulting in increased awareness for 

college students regarding the challenges face by the older generation and 

provided them with valuable employment skills and improve future 

employment prospects.   

 

3.3. Local people delivering local projects: The resident as a community 

asset: Using an asset based community development approach the CCC 

are acting as single points of access in the community for residents to set 

up local initiatives. To date we have set up between 30-40 different local 

projects that are being owned by the community.  Examples of some of 

these services are as follows:  

                                                           
7
 Neighbourhood Parships names and locations 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/connected-
communities.aspx.  

Page 68

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/connected-communities.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/connected-communities.aspx


  

OFFICIAL 
7 

 Mental Health Peer Support Group   

 Dementia Cafe 

 Community Choir  

 Youth Groups 

 After School Homework Clubs 

 Art Clubs 

 Healthy Food Projects 

 Parkrun 

 Community Discos 

 Street Pastors 

 Health Walks 

This approach contributes towards strategic outcome number 1 that our 

local communities are strong and supportive promoting individuals and 

families to become self-reliant and outcome 5 “people live will for longer”.  

 

Case Study 1 – Volunteering in Knutsford – Sarah’s Story 

Sarah’s smile is one of the first things you notice about this young mum 

from Knutsford – but step back five years and you would see a very 

different Sarah. Suffering with depression, extreme anxiety and feeling 

trapped inside her home, Sarah was struggling to look after a new baby 

and deal with a relationship breakdown. She felt as though her life was in a 

downward spiral. Thankfully, with our support she managed to take that 

vital first step towards getting help and is now inspiring and helping 

everyone in her local community through her role as volunteer coordinator 

and support worker at the Welcome Community Centre, on the Longridge 

Estate in Knutsford. Sarah said: “Depression isn’t simply a case of mind 

over matter and it’s fine to ask for help if you’re struggling. That first step is 

the scariest but it’s the best thing you can do to get support and start to 

change things for the better. “Looking after yourself has to be a priority and 

it’s not selfish to give yourself that help – you have to be ‘self-full’. If you’re 

feeling good and happy, you’re able to support your family, friends and 

community – but it has to start with you.” There are community services, 

groups and support available in the borough, such as connected 

communities centres, children’s centres and libraries where you can speak 

to a friendly face, get information and meet people with similar interests or 

challenges. In many centres, there are community cafés like the Welcome 

Café, where you can get a bacon butty and a cup of tea – there really is 

something for everyone. Sarah adds: “I am telling my story in the hope that 

it reaches that one person who might be sat like I was, hair in a mess, 

wearing pyjamas all day and trying to cope with a screaming baby. Life 

doesn’t have to be that way, so please find that ounce of energy to walk 

through the door of a local community centre, pick up the phone or go 

Page 69



 

OFFICIAL 

online and find someone to help you. The biggest discovery for me was that 

I wasn’t the only one to be feeling this way. It was a huge relief to share 

experiences with others.” Sarah is going from strength to strength with 

many achievements, including raising a happy and healthy family, leading a 

‘stronger women’ course, speaking in support of her local children’s centre 

at a public meeting, working towards getting on a degree course in social 

work and a new job8.  

 

Case Study 2 – Social isolation activity in Macclesfield 

The Moss Rose partnership identified a gap in provision for socially isolated 

adults and engagement with local people to mobilise a group of volunteers 

to re-invent ‘Coffee Plus’ (a much-loved coffee afternoon which fizzled 

away a number of years ago).  The provision is held at the CCC (St 

Barnabas Church) has 20+ attendees per week and is sustained through 

donations and volunteer support. To build on this, digital inclusion activity is 

being added to the initiative.  

 

Case Study 3 – Social isolation document in Wilmslow 

The Bollin Partnership acknowledged that although there was enough 

activity going on locally to tackle social isolation, those in need were not 

getting the relevant information. The partnership making connections 

through the Patient Participation Group found a local resident (Mrs R) who 

had a drive to create a local social isolation booklet “Connect”9 of activities 

to get out to every resident of Handforth Wilmslow. Having spent around 

250 hours of her own time and receiving a small grant from a number of 

partners to help with the printing 10,000 have now being printed and are in 

all of the GP practices and CCC for people to collect. The drive and 

passion behind this local resident has recently seen her be nominated as 

chairperson for the Bollin Neighbourhood Partnership.  

 

Case Study 4 – Community Café in Macclesfield 

The Green in the Corner GITC is a community interest company formed in 

2016 by a group of residents, stakeholders and local business owners in 

Hurdsfield, Macclesfield. With support from Hurdsfield Partnership GITC 

were able to secure premises and set up a community cafe. The aim of the 

cafe was to provide healthy, affordable food and a safe, social space for 

residents of Hurdsfield. The Directors also wanted the cafe to be dementia 

friendly. Initially the day-to-day running of the cafe was solely voluntary, 

however thanks to increased revenue and a being supported to apply for a 

number of small grants, the cafe now employs a manager who works 10 

                                                           
8
 See Sarahs sotry via Cheshire East Councils Youtube Channel 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cdbY6LwRJGk  
9
 Connect Booklet https://handforthppgconnec.wixsite.com/connect  

Page 70

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cdbY6LwRJGk
https://handforthppgconnec.wixsite.com/connect


  

OFFICIAL 
9 

hours per week. In 2018 GITC was chosen by the Hurdsfield 

Neighbourhood Partnership to become a CCC and they currently host a 

range of community activities including singing groups, art and craft groups, 

tea and chat groups and homework clubs. In addition, the cafe is signed up 

to Fareshare so they can provide free food to the residents who need it 

most. One volunteer of the GITC is now in long term employment and has 

credited his experience and confidence gained working in the cafe with 

helping to achieve his position10.  

 

3.4. Future developments:  

 Care Communities: The Connected Communities initiative which 

builds on local assets is now working alongside the Care 

Communities initiative (alignment of health and social care activity) 

where we are seeing projects develop between health and social 

care professionals in local areas, with local partners involving local 

people. This work was acknowledged by the Health and Wellbeing 

Board in April 2019. 

 Get Safe Online: Drawing down external funding 16 CCC are 

currently being installed with hardware equipment to allow them to 

use different forms of technology to communicate key messages as 

well as educating local residents on how to keep people safe online. 

This work will enhance other digital work streams across the 

Council.  

 Booking system: Future considerations are how we can improve 

how people can book on to the activities taking place from each 

CCC from a centralised point, we are currently exploring technology 

as a way of developing this. This work will look to be developed in 

2020. 

 Asset Based Community Development Grants: On the 10th 

September, Cabinet agreed the changes to the Early Help Grants 

which has introduced an element where local people can apply for 

up to £250 for ideas that can positively impact in their community 

therefore promoting social innovation. Using the CCC as a single 

point of access for local people to get support to apply for this fund 

will ensure that the type of projects people are applying for, meet 

local need in the area and build on existing local assets rather than 

duplicate provision. As from 2020 a process for decision making on 

these small £250 grants will be made at a local level made up of 

Neighbourhood Partnership and CCC representatives. Appendix 2 – 

“Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants”. 

                                                           
10

 See the Green in the Corner directors clip via facebook https://en-gb.facebook.com/TheGreenintheCorner/  

Page 71

https://en-gb.facebook.com/TheGreenintheCorner/


 

OFFICIAL 

 Social Value: Using the network of providers, CCC and the local 

intelligence they provide, we are exploring ways of how we can 

maximise the social value consideration in public sector contracts 

meets local need in relation to early intervention and prevention. 

This will also include how we work with business and industry in 

channelling corporate social responsibility to meet local needs. 

 

4. Implications 

4.1. Legal Implications  

4.1.1 A social franchise and associated grant funding is being awarded following 

an application process and against set criteria.  By entering into a formal 

grant agreement with the Council the organisations can be monitored and 

required to report back to the Council upon their compliance with the 

franchise requirements and expenditure of the grant.  The decision making 

process was delegated to the Portfolio Holder in order to ensure that 

decisions can be made expeditiously and at the appropriate level. 

4.1.2 Grant funding to organisations based on the application of the Council’s 

published scheme satisfies the Council’s public law duties.    

 

4.2. Financial Implications 

4.2.1. The remaining payments will be funded from the Public Health grant. 

This is recorded on the Public Health Team Plan. The expenditure prior to 

2019/20 was £60k which was funded through Communities Earmarked 

reserves,  the £98k committed for 2019/20 onwards will be funded via the 

Public Health Grant 

 

4.2.2. Further information 

There is a commitment to pay 27, £5,000 start up grants: 

Approved List of facilities 40 As per List in section 3.2 

   Less - Pilot Centres -2 Processed in full during 2017/18 

Less - Library Centres -6 No start up grant required 

Less - Split Site CCCs  -5 There are 4 split site centres 

    
 Number of Grant Commitments 27 
  

The grant allocations are processed in 4 instalments. The first payment is 

made shortly after the opening day, and then subsequent payments are 

made at 6 month intervals during the first 2 years of operation. The final 

Page 72



  

OFFICIAL 
11 

payments will be processed in September 2021, provided the remaining 

centres open as planned by September 2019.  

This table summarises the financial commitment to date:  

  
Commitment 

(£) 

2017/18 & 
2018/19 

Spend (£) 

Outstanding 
2019/20 

onwards (£) 

Pilot Scheme - Processed in 2017/18 4,300 4,300                         -    

Grant Payments (£5000 per centre) 135,000 39,920 95,080 

Open Day (£150 per site, excluding CEC owned sites) 4,800 1,950 2,850 

ICT Hardware Costs 12,276 12,276 - 

Other Costs (Printing Etc...) 2,500                 1,230  - 

TOTAL 158,876 59,676 97,930 

 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Nantwich and Stapeley 

Connected 
Communities 

- where residents and 
community organisations in 
Nantwich, come together to 
identify gaps in services, to 
strengthen our communities 
and to enable local people to 

experience improved 
wellbeing.

Dementia in our 
community

 Supporting Dementia Friendly 
Nantwich group so we can plan 
how we can take this forward 

 Work with local community 
assets to create a dementia 
village for community access 

 Raising awareness of the 
amazing community support that 
is already out there

Children & Young peoples  
aspirations & engagement

 Develop a Youth Forum 
 The Pledge – getting local 

businesses to partner with schools 
to inspire and share skills and 
knowledge

 Develop opportunities for youth 

clubs and activities  

Public Realm
 To elevate the importance of 

heritage and preserve public 
realm to facilitate a better 
environment 

 To deliver green themed projects 
for wellbeing of the town 
businesses, residents and visitors 

Social Isolation
 Raising Awareness – letting 

people know where they can 
go

 Developing a compassionate 
community

 Promote how communities 
can use Livewell

 Link with Care Community 
directory

 Transport projects 
.

P
age 75

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjhubaFrcDjAhVFUBoKHacMCNEQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.nantwichtowncouncil.gov.uk/?p%3D9220&psig=AOvVaw2pdpz2fsLw1BXMeX5jncVt&ust=1563603960764045


OFFICIAL

Connected Communities
Who is on board….

Guinness Partnership, Nantwich Town Partnership, Nantwich Foodbank, Cheshire Police, Nantwich Town Council, Stapeley Parish 
Council, Green Spaces, Richmond Village,St Marys Church Nantwich, South Cheshire CCG, Reaseheath College, EOLP, Nantwich 
Library, DFN, Elim Church Nantwich, Civic Society, Regents Park Café, Cheshire East Council, The Pledge  

Vision, Mission and Values 

MISSION to identify 
opportunities we can work WITH 
the community to tackle local 
priorities.  To identify 
assets/skills within the 
community to inspire and support 
local people including residents, 
and all organisations and 
businesses to tackle priorities BY 
themselves

VALUES
 embracing diversity and inclusion, building 
partnerships that collectively design/deliver 
health and wellbeing, and preserve heritage 
and public realm which: 
Empowers resident led initiatives
Connects people 
Connects people to services
Connects to neighbourhoods 
Connects to voluntary, community and 
faith sector organisations 
Connects local people to decision 
making 

VISION   
To build resilience, and create 
a healthy, supportive 
community for all, through 
collaborations with residents, 
businesses, faith, community 
and public organisations 

P
age 76

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwjM0sDY58vjAhUEJhoKHcZ6AHoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://pixabay.com/vectors/gear-cog-wheel-mechanics-machinery-146921/&psig=AOvVaw1hrydJzhttzd_T7TkO_rVH&ust=1563997714092810


OFFICIAL

1.Dementia in our community       
Dementia in Nantwich reflects the growing ageing population and is a priority for a number of organisations including statutory & 
voluntary sector. The impact on services and individuals is growing, affecting not only budgets, but individuals quality of life. As 
Nantwich Connected Communities, we can begin to co-design and co-deliver projects and service development to match the needs of 
our community
Activity Lead/ 

partners
Inputs Outputs Impact/outcome RAG What’s next?

Richmond 
Village

Awareness 
session at 
Malbank 
6th Form 
College 
with YR9 
pupils

Timescale
Start date:
11/07/2019
End date:
11/07/2019

4 Volunteer hours 
Partners training 
contributions
Free meeting place & 
refreshments

80 Yr 9 pupils 
participated 

Operational
80 Yr 9 pupils are 
now dem friends
Raised profile of 
DFN 
Improved dementia 
awareness amongst 
the youth 

Individual
Increased confidence, 
knowledge and 
compassion

To deliver annual training to 
Yr 9 pupils

To explore other school 
delivery of dementia friends 
awareness in the area 

Dementia 
Friendly Nantwich

Afternoon Tea 
event

Timescale
Start 8/8/19
End date: 
8/8/19

x Volunteer hours, 2 
hours of free venue hire
No cost publicity shared 
between partners 
Richmond transport use 
of mini bus 
free refreshments 
provided   

12 people with 
dementia &  carers 
attended benefitting 
directly from quality 
shared time, peer 
support & 
information

Operational Shared 
time out, enjoyed a 
quality experience, 
learnt together, 
socialised, patients 
were stimulated, 
within an 
understanding and 
nurturing 
environment – 
keeping people 
connected to their 
community and each 
other   

Individual
All felt part of a 
community and were 
part of a supportive 
learning environment 
and had space to 
enjoy some time out 
and access a different 
free relaxing activity 

To seek out other 
opportunities for dementia 
friends workshop delivery 

P
age 77



OFFICIAL

Age Uk 
CEC Dementia 
Reablement 
Team
Right at Nome 
InSafeHands
Alzheimer’s 
Society
EOLP

Information 
Day

Start 19.8.19
End date: 
19.8.19

7 staff and 
volunteers from 5 
organisations 
attended at  
Nantwich Library for 
4 hours 
Partners information 
and guidance and 
advice 

1 interactive and 
visual event 
created 

20 dementia 
themed 
information bags 
were distributed 

13 town center 
useful 
conversations
 
3 useful 
conversation in 
the library with 
social worker, 1 
couple and 
volunteer from 
museum 

space for 
networking  

Operational
13 town center 
businesses and 
retailers more 
aware of 
campaign and 
how they can 
support it 

1 couple more 
connected to 
services in the 
area 

All participating 
partners 
networked 

Individual useful 
conversations eg I 
now know the 
social worker 
linked to Nantwich 
and rural – Age 
Uk offered to do 
regular drop in at 
Library, Dental 
Practice want a 
dementia friends 
workshop, lots of 
leads created eg 
with M and S and 
B&M 

Planning on repeating 
information day events in 
rural areas of Audlem 
and Wrenbury WITH 
partners 

DFN considering their 
communications strategy

Collective progressing on 
Going Blue Week and 
gathering support  

Collective follow up of 
leads generated from the 
community conversations 
we had 

Several places need 
window stickers because 
training has been 
completed 

Dementia 
Friendly 
Nantwich

Going Blue 
for the Week

Start Aug 2019 
– End May 
2020

News article 
Awareness raising 
Publicity campaign 
volunteers time 
from various 
organisations and 
individuals and 
making – ongoing

Aug 2019 CNSF 
begun knitting 
forget me nots
Aug 2019 begun 
distribution of 
idea throughout 
the town

Operational Individual

Age UK Age Uk 
Nantwich 
Library Drop 
in 

Start 11th 
September 

2 hours a month 
Age Uk delivery 
within our CCC use 
of free hours – 6 

Operational
Dementia 
information and 
guidance, 
signposting  

Individual Promotional flier needed 

P
age 78



OFFICIAL

month pilot project 
Library promotion 

supported face to 
face monthly drop in 
service 

Richmond 
Village 

Richmond/  
Willaston 
new 
development 

ongoing 

Shared funding  
opportunities 
Brokering conversations 
between commissioning 

Informed 
dementia 
strategy 

Operational
Dementia Hub 
creation for all 
community 
involvement 

Individual
Experience days 
Use of facilities
Events 

In safe Hands 
and Innertrust 
CIC 

Memory 
Lane and 
Musical 
Minds

Start: Spring 
2019 ongoing 

New Homes Bonus 
funding £21,407

not all interim 
monitoring data  
back as yet but 
film footage and 
case studies are 
outstanding 

Sessions being 
delivered regularly 
within community 
on a monthly basis 
since start – still 
collating 
participation 
numbers but 
comments 
gathered are quite 
humbling to hear 

Stimulated residents 
enjoying  varied VR 
experiences, dance 
and singing 
sessions 
offering scope for 
endless VR 
possibilities and 
some bespoke film 
making for 
individuals is 
happening already 
making the lived 
everyday of 
dementia suffers 
more enjoyable and 
aiding memory 
recall and 
stimulating 
conversation 

2.     Public Realm 
To promote, for public benefit, the improvement of the Nantwich public realm, thereby facilitating a better environment in which business can 
flourish for the general wellbeing and future vitality of the town, its community and visitors.

P
age 79



OFFICIAL

Activity Lead/ 
partners

Inputs Outputs Impact/outcome RAG What’s next?

Nantwich in 
Bloom 

Operational Individual

Nantwich Litter 
Group 

Operational Individual

St Marys 
Church 

Operational Individual

Nantwich 
Museum 

Operational Individual

Nantwich 
Rotary 

Operational Individual

Nantwich Civic 
Society

Operational Individual

Greens[paces Operational Individual

3.     Social Isolation  - different marginalised groups of people including the growing elderly population, those finding it hard to travel for 
various reasons, adults with autism, and those living in rural areas   

P
age 80



OFFICIAL

Activity Lead/ 
partners

Inputs Outputs Impact/outcome RAG What’s next?

With - 
Nantwich 
Library, Green 
Doctor , Care 
and Repair, 
Pathfinders  

Library coffee 
morning drop 
in & Gables 
lunch group to 
link with public 
health 
engagement 
calendar of 
visitors and 
activities 

Start Oct 2019 

Partners time at 
event 

Operational Individual

CEC 
partnerships 
team 

News and 
Updates is a 
new weekly 
communication 
across 
Nantwich and 
rural  

June 2019 – 
ongoing 

Regular email of 
shared information 
for wider sharing 
and promotion 
including Parish 
clerks, social 
prescribers, 
communities also 
LACs and Social 
workers 

connecting 
people to 
services and 
activities as they 
evolve. Natalie 
Sneyd 
responsible for 
inclusion in GP 
newsletter  and 
updating new GP 
local service 
directory ref 
social prescribing 

Operational
news and messages 
shared regularly 
reach wide number 
of people cross 
networking Nantwich 
and rural & CEC 
teams – people 
better updated and 
connected to 
services and 
updates & funding 
opps 

Individual
Shared with leaders 
of community groups 
and interested 
residents 
encouraging 
improved 
participation and 
self-organization 

EOLP
CCG
CEC

Transport 
issue to 
connect the 
most 
vulnerable of 
residents to 
GP and 
medical 

Funding bid being 
developed and co-
written by CCG 
CEC and EOLP

Operational Individual

P
age 81



OFFICIAL

appointments  

Nantwich Book 
Shop and 
Coffee Lounge

Chatty Table 

Sept 2019 

Regular offer of 
chatty tables within 
café environment 
twice a week linked 
with markets 

Reduced social 
isolation 

Operational Individual

Wingate 
Center 

Artspace for 
Autism 

Operational Individual

Guinness 
Partnership 
Wishing Well

Mill House 
Wellbeing 
Digital taster

October 2020 

Wishing Well tutor
Refreshments free 
for the taster
Guinness 
Communal 
lounge/bistro area 
free use as learning 
environment  

1 taster session 
with tutor and 
Guinness 
support staff 
residents 
participation 

Operational
Improved digital 
learning amongst 
elderly 
Improved 
community 
knowledge and 
reduced social 
isolation with 
more residents 
eg able to skype 
family living far 
away, better 
connected  
technology 
resources to 
assist 
independence 
and wellbeing  
eg how to report 
independent 
living issues, 
manage online 
banking, book a 

Individual
Digitally 
connected and 
empowered 
stimulated minds 
and conversation 
resident feel 
more in control of 
their own lives for 
longer 

P
age 82



OFFICIAL

gp appointment, 
shop  ect

4. Childrens and Young Peoples aspirations and engagement - 
.
Activity Lead/ 

partners
Inputs Outputs Impact/outcome RAG What’s next?

Pledge 
partners 
YouthFed
Redshift Radio
Police

Youth Forum 

Start 19.5.19
 ongoing

free space to meet 
FB promotion 
Redshift promotion 

18 people with 
youth passions 
attended 
Offer of free 
safeguarding 
training 
Offer of other 
free venues for 
meetings 
Chair of the 
group confirmed 
Co-delivery by 
Pledge 
colleagues 
Hayley and Liz 
 

Operational
Doodle poll of next 
meeting 
Additional invites 
to potential 
partners 

Individual
new partners happy 
that an action group 
for youth 
engagement has 
begun offering many 
ideas on the night eg 
ideas for events, 
school engagement, 
counselling support, 
training and free 
space to meet 

Meeting to further 
progress the new group 
aims, ambitions 

Scoping of consultation 
document/survey

Wishing Well 
Stapeley 
Community 
Hall
Pending 
GRIPP

Stapeley Hall 
Youth Club 

NHB funding Stapeley Hall 
working to 
complete GRIPP 
outstanding 
policies ect 

Operational
GRIPP being 
finalised 
meeting with Town 
partnership and 
stapeley to be 
confirmed  

Individual

P
age 83



OFFICIAL

 RAG Rating actions 
 Action completed
 Action not yet completed, but on track and scheduled for completion within projected timeframe
 Action not on track, risk to implementation

Ongoing

P
age 84



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

POLICY FOR THE 
 

ALLOCATION OF  
EARLY HELP AND ASSET BASED 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANTS  
 

2019 – 2022 
 

July 2019 
 

 

Page 85



1 

 
 
 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
 
1.1. Cheshire East Council operates an Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants 

Scheme within the boundaries of Cheshire East as we believe that a vibrant voluntary, community and 
faith sector is vital to our communities. Funding awarded to local people and the voluntary, community 
and faith sector (VCFS) can generate a significant amount of community activity and positive impact.  
This Policy addresses the governance arrangements, procedures and monitoring process to facilitate 
the scheme. 
 

1.2. The Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme is a key enabler to the 
delivery of our Connected Communities Strategy which aims to connect communities across Cheshire 
East, where people and community organisations are embedded within local networks, providing 
mutual help and support. 
 

1.3. The Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme align to the Council’s 
Commissioning Framework – People live well for longer which has been developed to achieve 
improved outcomes for local people.  This means anticipating and responding to health and wellbeing 
needs as early as possible to ensure that local people are helped to ‘live well and for longer’ building 
resilience, so that people are empowered to recognise and address their own health and wellbeing 
needs and to make the most of assets within communities (such as by connecting people with local 
groups / voluntary services), which is a core part of this approach. 

 
1.4. The aim of the Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme is to support not 

for profit organisations (which for the purposes of this Policy shall include voluntary and community 
groups and registered charities) and inspire local people through social innovation to develop or 
enhance local projects that will improve the quality of life for local communities. Grants will be awarded 

which meet the Council’s Corporate Outcomes (see “3.10 Expected outcomes and proposed 

projects”) 
 

1.5. Funding will only be allocated where organisations and local people can demonstrate a required need, 
and demonstrate that a defined impact will be made through their project or activity and that clear 
outcomes can be achieved. 

 
1.6. When using the term grants in this Policy it refers to the giving of a fixed amount of Council funds to 

organisations through an application and assessment process which takes place 4 times each financial 
year.  

 
 

2. LEGAL AND BUDGETARY FRAMEWORK 
 
 

2.1. The Executive Director - People has responsibility for Early Help and Asset Based Community 
Development Grants Scheme and has delegated authority to approve grant applications from local 
people and organisations to assist in developing community based activities and projects.  

 
2.2. The Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme budget is fixed each year 

and so there is a limited amount of money from which to pay grants under this policy.  
 

2.3.  All grant decisions will be made based on the set of principles, set out in this Policy, and within the 
agreed budget approved by Council each year.  The budget for the grants is managed carefully and 
flexibly to ensure that the Council has money available throughout the year.   

Page 86



2 

 
2.4. Given the fixed budget and the Council’s aim to benefit as many organisations as possible, the Council 

cannot guarantee to fund the maximum amount applied for; therefore organisations must ensure that 
they have procedures in place to cover the balance of funding required.  The Council will not pay a 
grant unless the organisation can demonstrate that the balance of the funding is available. 

 
2.5. The Executive Director for People will be responsible for setting aside a proportion of the available 

budget for promotion and publicity purposes, as required. 
 

 
 
 
3. APPLICATION PROCESS 
 
 

3.1. The Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme operates within set criteria, 
which is approved by Cabinet, the final decision making on approving each round of grants will be 
delegated to the Executive Director of People and the relevant Council Officers in line with the 
Council’s Corporate Outcomes: 

 
 

How to apply 
 

3.2. Applications for Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme must be made 
using the Council’s Early Help Community and Asset Based Community Development Grant 
Application Form (See Appendix 1) and associated guidance notes that are available online on the 
Council’s website and as a paper version on request. 

 
3.3. The application form must be completed in full. Incomplete application forms will not be considered 

and will be returned to the applicant, which could cause a delay or deferral of the application. If 
applying from an organisation, a copy of the organisations up-to-date signed Governing Document and 
Safeguarding Policies and any other applicable supporting documents must be sent with the 
application form.  If this is not received the application will be deferred to the next round of evaluation 
and may result in the application being declined.  Further supporting documentation (listed under 
section 8 of the application form) may also be requested prior to the application being fully considered. 
Failure to supply all required documentation will result in the application being treated as incomplete. 

 
3.4. Applicants can only apply for funding for one project per financial year.  

 
3.5. The closing dates for receipt and acceptance of complete applications are the last Friday of March, 

June, September and December each year. 
 

3.6. Grants cannot be paid retrospectively therefore any work commenced prior to acceptance of the grant 
offer will not be eligible for funding.  

 
3.7. All successful applicants will be required to complete a post grant monitoring report as per section 5.0 

of this Policy, this will be proportionate to the amount of funding allocated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



3 

 
 
 

Who can apply? 
 

3.8. Asset Based Community Development Grants – up to a maximum award of £250 
 
The Council wishes to provide an opportunity for local residents of Cheshire East who wish to 
share their skills, interest and passions through volunteering to promote or deliver projects or 
events that will improve the health and wellbeing of their community. Residents will be able to 
apply for up to £250 for projects which will be delivered BY local people, be locally owned, and be 
locally attended. 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To apply for this you must: 
 Achieve one or more of the expected outcomes outlined in 3.10 of this document 
 Live within the Cheshire East area 
 Be passionate to make a difference within your local community 
 Complete the application form in full, providing all required information 
 Have not already received an Asset Based Community Development Grant within the current 

financial year 
 

3.9. Early Help Community Development Grants – up to a maximum award of £10,000 
 

The Council wishes to support the continuation and development of not-for-profit organisations 
and local projects that are created WITH the local community, this will target grant money to 
ensure that a greater impact is made on local communities WITH local communities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To apply for this you must: 
 Achieve one or more of the expected outcomes outlined in 3.10 of this document 
 Be a voluntary or community organisation, registered charity or other not for profit 

organisation 

By = Projects done by us for us. (Asset-

based Community Development). 

With = nothing for us without us. (Social 

Model/Coproduction/Co-design, Asset-

based approaches) 

Page 88



4 

 Have a set of audited accounts, or as a minimum an organisation bank statement, and are 
able to provide such information as the Council reasonably requires in order to satisfy the 
Council as to the organisations financial position and its need for the assistance requested 

 Have a management committee with an up-to-date Governing Document which must be 
signed by at least two members of the committee who are unrelated to each other; 

 Have appropriate safeguarding policies relevant to their organisation, which must include a 
requirement that staff / volunteers are cleared with the Disclosure and Barring Service where 
appropriate; 

 Have a bank or building society account in the name of the organisation applying with at least 
two signatories who are unrelated to each other; 

 Provide value for money 
 Be passionate to make a difference within your local community 
 Complete the application form in full, providing all required information 
 Have not already received an Early Help Community Development Grant within the current 

financial year 
 Be based in Cheshire East 

 
 

3.10. Expected outcomes and proposed projects 
 
The list below highlights Cheshire East Corporate Outcomes, with a number of key outcomes that the 
Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants will be expected to achieve. These 
outcomes are inline with Cheshire East Corporate Outcomes also using the nationally recognised 
Themes, Outcomes and Measures created by the Sustainable Development Unit as part of the Social 
Value work. A number of proposed projects have set alongside those outcomes to provide the 
applicants additional information.  

 
Outcomes Proposed Projects 

1. Our local communities are strong and supportive 

Health literacy is improved 
and community health 
services are promoted 

Initiatives to connect communities through projects 
around health awareness (including wider determinants 
of health), promoting community safety (workshops, 
training) 

Community asset building Initiatives to connect communities through building 
community networks by providing space and 
opportunities to bring people together reducing 
loneliness and isolation and enhancing community 
cohesion (community transport schemes, enhancing 
community facilities, community events) 

2. Cheshire East has a strong & resilient economy 

More local people in 
employment 

Initiatives to support people in to employment with 
disabilities, who have been long term unemployed, 
young offenders (job clubs, training programmes, 
volunteer opportunities) 

Encourage businesses to 
play an active role within 
their communities 

Initiatives that attract businesses to use Social 
Corporate Responsibility to benefit local communities 
(volunteering, local apprenticeship schemes, sharing 
community knowledge) 

3. People have the life skills and education they need in order to thrive 

Children are given the best 
start in life 

Initiatives to promote positive behavior change in young 
people  (anti bullying, change4-life, start for life projects) 

Young people are given the 
best opportunities 

Initiatives around summer play schemes, youth projects 
in particular considering young people in vulnerable 

Page 89



5 

groups and initiatives that reduce anti-social or 
disruptive behaviors 

4. Cheshire East is a green & sustainable place 

Environmental Impacts are 
reduced 

Initiatives to provide advice to local residents to reduce 
energy consumption, reduce or replace the use of single 
use plastics, promote recycling and minimising waste 
(love food hate waste). 

Sustainable travel is 
promoted 

Initiatives to promote walking and cycling routes 
alternative to car journeys 

Creating better places to live Maximising the use of the natural built environment 
such as open green spaces developing initiatives that 
will connect people to these areas. Protecting and 
sustaining the natural built environment such as open 
green spaces developing initiatives such as friends of 
the park schemes and planting schemes. 

5. People Live well for Longer 

People are supported to 
have control over their lives 
 

Initiatives to promote independent living (money advice, 
befriending schemes, practical healthy lifestyles advice, 
digital inclusion support) 

The role and impact of ill-
health prevention is 
strengthened 

Initiatives that tackle homelessness, alcohol abuse, 
drug misuse, smoking, promote healthy eating, drinking 
and exercise (projects that will engage target 
audiences) 

Mental health is promoted Initiatives to promote good mental health or increase 
access to mental health support (peer support groups, 
dementia friendly communities, mental health first aid) 

Non clinical treatment 
promoted 

Initiatives that offer social prescribing schemes as 
treatment 

Carers' quality of life is 
improved 

Initiatives to support carers to feel less isolated and 
develop new social and peer support networks 

 
3.11. What this grant will fund 

 

 Capital costs (equipment, building repairs) 

 Revenue costs (staffing, expenses) 

 Events (refreshments, advertisement etc.) 

 Project start up/short term ongoing costs (volunteers expenses, room hire, insurances etc.) 
 

3.12. What this grant will not fund 
 

 Organisations which hold substantial free reserves, including local branches of national or 
regional organisations which hold free reserves that could be utilised 

 Applications from Town and Parish Councils or departments within Cheshire East Council 

 Applications made by an individual below the age of 18. 

 Work which has already taken place and been paid for. 

 Sponsorship for individuals taking part in foreign trips or sporting/musical programmes 

 Activities that are for the sole relief or benefit of animals 

Page 90



6 

 Activities that are of sole benefit to an individual 

 General appeals, sponsorship or fundraising for your own organisation or others 

 Activities of a mainly political or religious nature 

 Refurbishments or equipment where there is no considerable benefit to individuals attending the 
facility 

 Projects taking place abroad 

 Projects that do not meet the intended outcomes 

 Projects from schools or colleges that do not take place outside of normal school hours or in the 
holidays or do not include a wide proportion of the community who do not attend that 
establishment 

 Events which do not involve members of the local community participating 

 Repair costs where deterioration is due to neglect 

 Loan against loss or repaying debt; 

 Paying someone to write your application or applications to other grant funders 

 Land purchase 

 Items that are purchased on behalf of another organisation 

 Disabled facilities where there is no proven need for the work to be carried out or where 
upgrading is required for an existing facility to meet the statutory requirements of the DDA; 

 Organisations which are not based in Cheshire East, unless they can demonstrate significant 
community benefits within Cheshire East. 

 
 

3.13. General Conditions 
 
3.13.1. Grants are classed as one-off and should not be seen as repeat funding; 

 
3.13.2. The funding allocated must be spent to benefit the residents of Cheshire East: 

 

3.13.3. Annual applications from the same people or organisation for the same purpose will not be 
considered; 
 

3.13.4. Grants of £1,000 and under are valid for a period of 6 months from the date of the offer letter 
and will be paid in advance. Monitoring information and invoices or receipts must be 
forwarded to the Cheshire East Council within 6 months of the date of offer letter;   
 

3.13.5. Grants over £1,000 are valid for a period of 12 months from the date of the offer letter and will 
be paid upon completion of the project.  Monitoring information and invoices or receipts must 
be forwarded to the Cheshire East Council within 12 months of the date of offer letter to allow 
the grant to be paid; 
 

3.13.6. If an organisation’s financial position means that they are unable to begin the project without 
payment of the grant first they may be entitled to request payment prior to the project 
commencing.  Monitoring information will still need to be submitted 12 months after the date 
of the offer letter; 
 

3.13.7. Organisations who are in receipt of other funding from the Council may apply to this grant 
scheme if the grant is required for a one-off project which is considered additional to the 
service already funded; 
 

3.13.8. Any profits from projects must be used to further develop the organisation/community activity 
or for any future projects and not used to support other organisations or different projects; 
 

Page 91



7 

3.13.9. If the project involves work on land or a building, including refurbishment, the applicant must 
own the freehold of the land or building, or hold a lease that cannot be brought to an end by 
the landlord for at least 5 years; 

 
3.13.10. If planning permission is required this must be in place before the grant application is made.  

The Council may ask for confirmation that planning permission is not required, or that it is 
required and has been granted.  Grant applications without planning permission in place will 
be considered if the application is for a feasibility study or architects fees in order to establish 
the viability of the project; 
 

3.13.11. Organisations must be committed to and have policies on equalities and inclusion and in 
delivering the services or activity the organisation must not unlawfully discriminate, directly or 
indirectly against any of the nine protected characteristics which are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and 
belief, sex and sexual orientation.  The organisation can direct some or all of its activities at 
specific groups where the intention is to address discrimination or disadvantage; 
 

3.13.12. Successful applicants must be able to participate in a monitoring process and provide 
monitoring information to evidence how the grant money has been spent and adherence to 
the conditions of the grant. This must include receipts or invoices and the completed 
monitoring form, plus photographs, once the project has finished. This in some cases may 
also include in site visits and quarterly updates; 
 

3.13.13. Successful applicants must acknowledge the support of Cheshire East Council in press 
releases, publicity and advertising etc.  Electronic copies of the Council’s logo will be sent 
with grant offers; 
 

3.13.14. Successful applicants will be expected to adhere to all grant agreements including how the 
Council’s branding should be used to promote the project 
 

3.13.15. Successful applicants will allow Cheshire East Council to use details of the grant award, 
together with any relevant photographs supplied, in newsletters and on the Council’s website;   
 

3.13.16. Expenditure must not be incurred on the project prior to the grant decision being given.  In 
these circumstances the Council will withdraw the grant offer/rescind the grant decision; 
 

3.13.17. Successful applicants must notify the Council of any changes in circumstances which affect 
their financial position throughout the period in which the grant monies are being used; 
 

3.13.18. The grant must only be used for the purposes specifically stated in the application form, 
should it be spent in any other way, without written approval from the Council, the individual 
or Organisation may be asked to return some or all of the monies paid; 
 

3.13.19. If the project is cancelled or only partially achieved, or if the organisation is wound up, any 
unused grant money must be returned to the Council; 
 

3.13.20. All conditions, under which the grant has been awarded, including any Special Conditions, 
must be met.  Failure to do so could result in the individual or Organisation being asked to 
repay the grant monies to the Council. 

 

 

 

4. DECISION MAKING PROCESS 
 

Page 92



8 

4.1. The Early Help Community and Asset Based Community Development Grant applications will be 
considered at quarterly intervals as set out at section 3.5.  
 

4.2. All Applications will be assessed by a multi agency evaluation panel of professionals who will have 
various expertise about the proposed outcomes.  
 

4.3. Having assessed all applications a Recommendations Report is prepared for consideration and 
approval by the Executive Director for People.   

 
4.4. Applicants will be notified to inform them of whether they have been successful or not within 6 weeks 

after the closing date for each round of applications. 
 

4.5. Complaints about any aspect of the Early Help and Asset Based Community Development process will 
be dealt with under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure. A copy of the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints, Compliments and Suggestions Policy is available from the Council’s website. 

 
 

 
5. MONITORING AND RECORD KEEPING 

 
5.1. Following a successful application and in order to ensure that monies are used in an appropriate 

manner, as set out in this Policy, a monitoring report will be required following project completion.  
This report shall include, but shall not be limited to, how many people benefitted from the project, if a 
profit was made and how it was used, how the grant money was used and what difference the project 
made to the organisation and/or local people.  

 

5.2. For Grants of £1,000 and under the completed monitoring form, invoices or receipts and photographs 
must be forwarded to the Council within 6 months of the date of offer letter.  

 
5.3. For Grants over £1,000 the completed monitoring form, invoices or receipts and photographs must be 

forwarded to the Council within 12 months of the date of offer letter to allow the grant to be paid. 
 

5.4. Invoices or receipts dated prior to the date of the offer letter will not be accepted or reimbursed 
 

5.5. The Council reserves the right to monitor the use of the grant and ask for evidence to support an 
application.  

 
5.6. Successful applicants must allow reasonable access to premises/accounts/activities upon request 

from the Council.  
 
5.7. Successful applicants must retain records relating to the grant for an appropriate period (to be advised 

depending on the grant).   
 
5.8. If successful applicants do not supply satisfactory monitoring reports and supporting information in full 

and within the set time scale they may be asked to repay the grant funding to the Council.  Failure to 
comply with the conditions of this grant may be taken into account when considering any further 
applications for grant funding made by the same person or organisation in the future. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 93

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/customer_services/complaints_and_feedback.aspx
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/customer_services/complaints_and_feedback.aspx


9 

 
 
 

Annex 1: Early Help Community and Asset Based Community Development Grant Application 
Form 
 
 

Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants  
             Application Form 

 
 
 
                                         
 

 Max.Grant Amount 
Applied for 

Asset Based Community Development Grants £250  

Early Help Community Development Grants £10,000  

 

1. Contact Details  

Resident/Organisation name: 
 

 

Address: 
 

 
 
 
 
                                                                    Postcode: 

Main contact for this application (name): 
 

 

Position in organisation (if applicable):  

Contact address (if different from above): 
 

 
 
 
                                                                    Postcode: 

Telephone No:      

Email:  

Website:  

Secondary contact for this application 
(name): 

 

This must be different from above and if applying from an organisation a second contact must be your chair, 
secretary, treasurer or a senior member of your management committee. 

Contact address  
 
 
                                                                     Postcode: 

Telephone No:  

Email:  

Position in organisation (if applicable):  
 

This application form should be completed in conjunction with the Guidance Notes and the Policy for the 

Allocation of Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants 

If you a resident applying for an Asset Based Community Grant, please go to section 3. 

If you are applying as an organisation, please complete section 2. 

Page 94



10 

2. Organisation Profile 

 

How would you describe your organisation? Please tick all boxes that apply 
 
Registered Charity   Voluntary Organisation   Community Group 
 
Please supply your Registration Number  
 

 
Company Limited by Guarantee              Not-for-Profit Organisation     Social Enterprise 
 
Other  Please describe:    

How long has your organisation been in existence? 

What does your organisation do? (A summary of this information will be used on our website if your application is 
successful)  

Maximum 50 words. 
 
 
 
 

Does your organisation: 
 
Own its own land/premises/facilities                             
Hire private land/premises/facilities                              
Hire local authority land/premises/facilities                  
Lease the land/premises/facilities                                  (please give details of lease expiry date/length of lease below) 
 
 
 
 
 

How many people are involved in your organisation? (include your committee, staff and members in this figure) 
 
Number of paid staff                                         Full time                    Part time                    Casual 
 
Number of unpaid staff/volunteers                   Full time                    Part time                    Casual 
 
Number of members / participants                                                            Total 
 
 

3. Previous Funding 

 

Have you/your organisation received a grant or other funding from Cheshire East Council before? 
 
Yes                         No         
 
If yes, please state what the grant was for, when it was awarded and how much was awarded.   
 
Type of grant or funding:                                               Date awarded:                             Amount £                                   
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

   

   

 
 
 
 

  

Page 95



11 

 

How did you hear about the Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grant Scheme? 
 
 
 
 

 

4. Your Project 

 

Start date of project:   

Name of project: Maximum 10 words  
 

Project Outline: Describe what the grant you are requesting is required for.  
Maximum 150 words. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcomes: Describe the outcomes your project will aim to achieve and what difference will your project make locally. 
Maximum 150 words.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence:  Provide examples of evidence that your project will achieve the proposed outcomes. 
Maximum 150 words.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consultation and need: Describe how you have consulted your intended beneficiaries or the local community to 
establish the need for your project.  
Maximum 150 words. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 96



12 

Monitoring and Evaluation: Describe how you will monitor the project outputs and evaluate its outcomes upon 
project completion. 
Maximum 150 words. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainability: How will your project or service be sustained and provide a lasting benefit to the community after the 
grant funding has been used?   
Maximum 50 words. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Your Project Beneficiaries 

 

Outputs: Please tell us the total number of people you expect to directly benefit from your project and how you intend 
to engage them. 
 
 
 
 

Target Audience: Please tell us who will benefit from your project.  
Maximum 150 words. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area: Please tell us which geographical area will benefit most from your project (borough/town/neighbourhood). 

 

 

Page 97



13 

 

Does your organisation restrict access on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation?  

Yes             No    
 

If yes, please give us more information about why you restrict access: 
 
 
 
This information is for data collection purposes only and will not be used to assess your application unless you 
unfairly restrict access to your organisation or activity.   

6. Projected Expenditure 

 

Please estimate your total project costs and provide brief details.   

New build / refurbishment £  

Furniture, fixtures / fittings  £  

Equipment purchase £  

Equipment hire £  

Premises / facility hire (per week) £  

Materials (include details) £  

Advertising / marketing / publicity £  

Workshops / seminars / training  £  

Staffing costs £  

Volunteer expenses £  

Other (details) 
 

£ 
£ 

 

TOTAL COST: £ 

 
 
 
 

7. Additional Contribution Costs (if applicable) 

Please specify funding or income from other sources (other grants, own contribution, match funding etc) that will 
contribute towards your total project cost.  We cannot guarantee to award the full amount requested.  

 
Amount Applied to (name) and 

expected to hear (date) 
Confirmed?  

() 

Total Project Cost £   

Own existing funds / fundraising £   

Projected income from ticket sales etc. £   

Town / Parish Council funding £   

Sponsorship (Please specify) £   

Donations (please specify) £   

Grants i.e. Lottery, WREN etc (Please specify 
which organisations funding is coming from) 
 
 

£ 
£ 
£ 
£ 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 

 

Non-Cash or In-Kind contributions (volunteer 
hours) 

   

Total projected income £   

Amount requested from Cheshire East Council £  

Balance Outstanding £  

  

Page 98



14 

If there is a balance outstanding or you are not awarded the full amount requested from Cheshire East Council please 
state how the shortfall will be covered or whether the project will be delayed: 
 
 
 
  

If you receive all of your expected income which then exceeds your total project costs, or you make a profit, please 
state how this surplus will be spent: 
 
 
 
 

Organisations only : Please provide a summary of your most recent accounts and whether the figures below are: 
 
    A projection because the organisation has been running for less than 15 months  
 
    Information from the organisation’s latest accounts                    
 
 

Account Year Ending: 
 
Total Income for the year 
Total expenditure for the year 
Surplus or deficit 
 
Total savings or reserves at bank at year end 
(please state what reserves are held for) 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
£ 
£ 
£ 
 
£ 
 

Please state organisation’s / or individuals bank account name, sort code and account number: 
Account Name: 
Account number: 
Sort Code: 
 

If your organisation is VAT registered, please supply your VAT number: 

 
 
 

8. Supporting Documentation 

 

If you are applying as an organisation, please tick if you have the following documents.  You do not need to send 
these documents in with your application, but we may request copies at a later date. 
 
Up to date Annual accounts                               Safeguarding Policies 
 
Governing Document (signed)                               Quotes/Estimates for equipment 
 
Planning Permission                    Affiliation to a Governing Body 
 
Disclosure and Barring Service Checks                                Equalities and Inclusion Policy 
 
Proof of identity (for applications to the Asset Based Community Development Grants) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 99



15 

9. Data Protection and Communications 

 

Please ensure that you read this section before submitting your application. 
 

Part or all of the information you supply to us will be held on computer.  This information will be used for the 
administration of grant applications and for statistical analysis.  Copies of this information will be given, where 
necessary, to individuals we consult with when assessing applications and for monitoring grants.  You have the right 
to view information we hold on you and to have any errors or inaccuracies corrected. 
 

We would like to contact you from time-to-time to provide information relevant to you such as funding bulletins and 
our newsletter.  The General Data Protection Regulation requires us to ask for consent to contact you by email.  If 
you are happy for us to do this please tick this box        If you do not tick this box we will not include your details on 
our database. 
 
Alternatively, please follow the link to add yourself to our Connected Communities Mailing List which will allow you to 
specify which area you would prefer to receive information about.  
 

10. Declaration 

 

I hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge all the information contained within this application is correct and I 
confirm that I understand, agree and accept the terms and conditions of the grant as set out in the Policy for the 
Allocation of Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants Scheme. 

 

1
st
 Signature:                Position in organisation: 

 
Date:                                                                    Are you over 18? 
 

2
nd

 Signature:                Position in organisation: 
 
Date:                                                                    Are you over 18? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. Submitting Your Application 

 

Page 100

https://form.cheshireeast.gov.uk/AchieveForms/?mode=fill&form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-c998fade-2f40-4fe2-b14c-6e9aa713671c/AF-Stage-66779ba6-1e8e-4c0d-9a4b-2a3685410008/definition.json&process=1&process_uri=sandbox-processes://AF-Process-c998fade-2f40-4fe2-b14c-6e9aa713671c&process_id=AF-Process-c998fade-2f40-4fe2-b14c-6e9aa713671c


16 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Before submitting your application you must tick all the boxes below to confirm that: 
 

 
You have answered all questions on the application form. 

 

You (the main contact named in section 1 of this application form) are over the age of 18 and if applying on 
behalf of an organisation, you are authorised to apply for a grant from Cheshire East Council on behalf of your 
organisation. 

 

You understand that if you make any seriously misleading statements (whether deliberate or accidental) at any 
stage during the application process, or knowingly withhold any information, this could make your application 
invalid and you could be liable to repay the grant to the Council. 

 

If we make a conditional offer to you or your organisation, you will supply all relevant documents or information 
within 20 working days and accept that we may withdraw the grant offer if this is not adhered to. 

 

You have read and are able to comply with the terms and conditions of the grant, which are set out in the Policy 
for the Allocation of Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants and that you understand that 
any grant offer will be made subject to your confirming that you understand, agree and accept those terms and 
conditions. 

 

Application forms should be returned: 
 

By post:              
Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants, Cheshire East Council, (Floor 3, Delamere House) 
C/O Municipal Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe, CW1 2BJ. 
 
By email: 
communitygrants@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

 
 
If you have any questions concerning your application please visit www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/communitygrant, use the 
contact details above or phone 01270 685809. 

 

Closing dates for receipt of applications are the last Friday of: 

 March 

 June 

 September 

 December 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

You will be informed of the outcome of your application approximately 6 weeks after the closing 

date. 

 

Page 101

mailto:communitygrants@cheshireeast.gov.uk
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/communitygrant


17 

Annex 2: Early Help Community and Asset Based Community Development Grant Guidance 
Notes 
 

Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants 
 Application Guidance Notes  

 

Please read these notes carefully before completing the application form and ensure that you have 
read the Policy for the Allocation of Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants.  
 
 

Grant Category 
 

 Please state which category you are applying to and how much money you will be requesting from 
Cheshire East Council in your application form. 

 
 

 

Section 1 – Contact Details 
 

 If applying from an organisation, enter the full names as they appear on your governing document. 
 

 The main contact for the application must be the person that submits the application and must have 
knowledge of, and be able to talk about, your project.   

 

 The secondary contact must be different from the main contact and if you are applying from an 
organisation, this contact must be your chair, treasurer or a senior member of your management 
committee.  

 
 

 

Section 2 – Organisation Profile 
 

 Only complete this section if you are applying from an organisation 
 

 To describe your organisation tick all boxes which apply and, where applicable, add your charity 
registration number. 

 

 If applying from a school, projects will only be eligible for consideration if they take place outside of 
normal school hours or in the holidays. Projects must involve a wide proportion of the community who do 
not attend the school. 

 

 Enter the number of years that your organisation has been in existence. 
 

 When entering a description of what your organisation does please consider that this will be read by 
people who do not know your organisation.  Enter a summary, of no more than 50 words, which 
captures the main element of what you do.  A summary of this information will be used on the Council’s 
website if your application is successful. 

 

 Tick the one category that describes your organisations land / premises / facilities and enter the lease 
expiry date or length of lease. 

 

 If your project involves work on land or a building, including refurbishment, you must own the freehold of 
the land or building, or hold a lease that cannot be brought to an end by the landlord for at least 5 years. 

 

 Enter totals for all of the people involved in your organisation, this should include your committee 
members or leaders of the organisation, paid or unpaid staff, volunteers and the members or participants 
of your organisation.  If the numbers of your participants vary, please use an approximate figure. 

 

Page 102



18 

 
 

Section 3 – Previous funding 
 

 Let us know if you have previously received a grant from the Council, when it was awarded, how much 
was awarded and what type of grant it was.  If you do not know the exact date please give the year and 
approximate month. 

 

 Let us know how you heard about the Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants 
scheme to help us improve our communications. 

 
 
 

 

Section 4 – Your Project 
 

 Enter the date when you expect your project to begin or the date on which the activity or event will take 
place.  We cannot pay retrospectively therefore this date should be at least 6 weeks after the closing 
date, when you will hear if your application has been successful or not.  
 

 Enter the name of your project  
 

 Project Outline:  
 

When explaining what the grant you are requesting is required for please be specific about what you want 
to do and how you will do it and consider the following proposals for ideas: 

Proposed Projects 

1. Our local communities are strong and supportive 

Initiatives to connect communities through projects around health awareness 
(including wider determinants of health), promoting community safety (workshops, 
training) 

Initiatives to connect communities through building community networks by providing 
space and opportunities to bring people together reducing loneliness and isolation and 
enhancing community cohesion (community transport schemes, enhancing 
community facilities, community events) 

2. Cheshire East has a strong & resilient economy 

Initiatives to support people in to employment with disabilities, who have been long 
term unemployed, young offenders (job clubs, training programmes, volunteer 
opportunities) 

Initiatives that attract businesses to use Social Corporate Responsibility to benefit 
local communities (volunteering, local apprenticeship schemes, sharing community 
knowledge) 

3. People have the life skills and education they need in order to thrive 

Initiatives to promote positive behavior change in young people  (anti bullying, 
change4-life, start for life projects) 

Initiatives around summer play schemes, youth projects in particular considering 
young people in vulnerable groups and initiatives that reduce anti-social or disruptive 
behaviors 

4. Cheshire East is a green & sustainable place 

Initiatives to provide advice to local residents to reduce energy consumption, reduce 
or replace the use of single use plastics, promote recycling and minimising waste 
(love food hate waste). 

Initiatives to promote walking and cycling routes alternative to car journeys 

Protect and make use of the natural and built environment with initiatives to maximise 
green spaces areas, and developing areas around arts, culture, heritage and leisure. 

Page 103



19 

5. People Live well for Longer 

Initiatives to promote independent living (money advice, befriending schemes, 
practical healthy lifestyles advice, digital inclusion support) 

Initiatives that tackle homelessness, alcohol abuse, drug misuse, smoking, promote 
healthy eating, drinking and exercise (projects that will engage target audiences) 

Initiatives to promote good mental health or increase access to mental health support 
(peer support groups, dementia friendly communities, mental health first aid) 

Initiatives that offer social prescribing schemes as treatment 

Initiatives to support carers to feel less isolated and develop new social and peer 
support networks 

 

 Refer to the Policy for the Allocation of Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants 
(3.12) for things that cannot be funded under the grants scheme. 

 

 Outcomes:  
Tell us how your project will achieve one of the below outcomes: 

Outcomes 

1. Our local communities are strong and supportive 

Health literacy is improved and community health services are promoted 

Community asset building 

2. Cheshire East has a strong & resilient economy 

More local people in employment 

Encourage businesses to play an active role within their communities 

3. People have the life skills and education they need in order to thrive 

Children are given the best start in life 

Young people are given the best opportunities 

4. Cheshire East is a green & sustainable place 

Environmental Impacts are reduced 

Sustainable travel is promoted 

Creating better places to live 

5. People Live well for Longer 

People are supported to have control over their lives 

The role and impact of ill-health prevention is strengthened 

Mental health is promoted 

Non clinical treatment promoted 

Carers' quality of life is improved 
 

 Tell us the difference achieving this outcome will make locally. 
 
Evidence: 

 Explain how your project meets the criteria in the Policy for the Allocation of Early Help and Asset 
Based Community Development Grants 

 Explain if you have prior experience in delivering this type of project or research and evidence you have 
found that suggests your project will achieve the intended outcome. 

 
Consultation and need: 

 If you want to address a problem or issue in the community tell us what the problem or issue is, how you 
identified it and what you intend to do to address it. 

 

 Tell us what evidence you have to show that the project is needed and if you have consulted with the 

Page 104



20 

people who will benefit from the project. 
 
Monitoring and Evaluation: 

 Tell us how you plan to monitor and evaluate your project to establish whether your intended outcomes 
have been achieved and if you be using any recognised tools to do this. 

 
 
Sustainability: 
• When explaining how your project or service will be sustained in the future consider whether you will be 

applying a charge to your service users, profits from ticket sales, grants, sponsorship, fund raising and 
other sources of income. 

 
 

 

Section 5 – Project Beneficiaries 
 

Outputs: 

 When thinking about who will benefit, tell us how many people will directly access your project.   
 
Target Audience: 

 This section is for you to tell us who will benefit from your project, if your project is mainly for local 
people but you also attract people from further afield enter this information. 

 

 If you want to run an activity or event, tell us what it is, when it will happen, who will attend and how local 
people within the community will benefit. 
 

 We expect all activity funded by the Council to be inclusive, if you restrict access to any groups or 
individuals let us know and explain why you do this. 

 

Area: 

 Tell us the area/geographical footprint this project will target 
 

 

Section 6 – Projected Expenditure 
 

 Provide costs for the full expenditure of the project.  
 

 Do not provide the annual costs for running your organisation. 
 

 Do not include any VAT that you can claim back from HM Revenue and Customs 
 

 
 

 

Section 7 – Additional Contribution Costs (if applicable) 
 

 Provide the amount of funding you are contributing from your own organisation. 
 

 If you have applied for funding from elsewhere, enter who you have applied to, the amount you have 
applied for, the date when you expect to hear if the application has been successful and tick if this has 
been confirmed. 

 

 When recording non-cash or in-kind contributions consider those items which you would otherwise have 
to pay for such as volunteer hours (It is recommended that you use an hourly rate of £11.59 for 
volunteer hours), donations of goods for the project and printing of advertising literature. 

 

 If you are unable to secure the full amount of the project costs state how any shortfall will be covered, 
whether this will affect the start date or if the project will not be able to go ahead. 

Page 105



21 

 

 If you have applied for a number of other grants and funding support, this may make your income look 
higher than it potentially could be.  Should you be fortunate enough to secure all of the funding you have 
requested and have a surplus, you must explain how you intend to spend this or whether some grants 
will not be accepted by your organisation. 

 

 If your organisation has been running for less than 15 months, provide a 12 month projection for the year 
when you will spend the grant.  Include the amount you are requesting from the Council in your 
projection. 

 

 Your bank account must be in the same name as the organisation that is applying for the grant. 
 

 Please provide your account name, account number and sort sode. If your application is successful, 
payment will be made direct into your bank account. 

 
 
 

 

Section 8 – Supporting Documentation 
 

 

 Proof of identity (for applications to the Asset Based Community Development Grants), this will be 
driving licence, passport, or other alternative proof of identity. 
 

 Please look carefully through the list of supporting documentation and ensure that you only tick the 
boxes if you have the documents or policies in place, as you may be asked to supply copies to support 
your application. 

 

 You must have safeguarding policies in place relevant to your organisation and the project you are 
asking us to fund, even if your project does not directly involve children, young people under the age of 
18 or vulnerable adults.  You may witness a safeguarding incident and will need to know how to report it, 
having a safeguarding policy in place will enable you to follow the correct procedure in order to do this. 

 

 Guidance for creating governing documents and policies for your organisation are available from the 
Council’s website and through our partner organisation CVS Cheshire East. 

 

 Your governing documents should be up-to-date and that they reflect how your organisation currently 
operates.  Check that they are signed and dated by your current Chair or other relevant senior members 
of your governing body, these people must not be related. 

 

 If your project requires planning permission you must have it before you apply.  You may be required to 
send confirmation that planning permission is not required, or that it is required and has been granted. 

 
 

 

Section 9 – Data Protection and Communications 
 

 Read the data protection statement and tick the box or follow the link if you are happy to receive future 
communications from us such as our Connected Communities newsletter, funding alerts and local area 
information. We will never share your details with third parties. 

 
 

 

Section 10 – Declaration 
 

 Please ensure that you read the Policy for the Allocation of Early Help and Asset Based Community 
Development Grants as you will be accepting the terms and conditions contained within that Policy when 
signing your application form. 

 

Page 106



22 

 The application form should be signed by both the main contact and secondary contact as detailed in 
Section 2 of the application form. 

 

 Both signatories of the application form must be over the age of 18. 
 

 
 

Section 11 – Submitting Your Application 
 

 Before submitting your application you must be able to tick all boxes in this section.  If you are unable to 
do so use the contact details below to ask for advice. 

 

 Try to submit your application in plenty of time before the deadline date in order to receive feedback. 
This is particularly important for the December deadline.  

 

 Applications must be completed in full and received by the application deadline, applications not fully 
completed, or received after the deadline will either be returned to you or be considered in the following 
round which may be after your project start date and cause the application to be declined. 

 
 

 

Application forms should be returned : 
 

By post: Early Help and Asset Based Community Development Grants, Cheshire East Council, (Floor 
3, Delamere House) C/O Municipal Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ 

 

By email: communitygrants@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Online: Applications can be made online at www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/communitygrant   
 

If you have any questions concerning this application, or need assistance in completing the form, call 
01270 685809 or email: communitygrants@cheshireeast.gov.uk  
 

Closing dates for receipt of applications are the last Friday of: 

 March 

 June 

 September 

 December 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

You will be informed of the outcome of your application approximately 6 weeks after the closing date. 

 

Page 107

mailto:communitygrants@cheshireeast.gov.uk
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/communitygrant
mailto:communitygrants@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2018/19 

 

Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults Board 
Annual Report 

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 10



 

1 
 

       

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WELCOME FROM GEOFFREY (Around 300 words max) 

INC – two part board meetings 

Statutory partner meetings 

Themed boards 

Partnership chairs meetings 

Success of training 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Geoffrey Appleton                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Interim Independent Chair of Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults Board 

 

Welcome from Independent Chair  

P
age 110



 

2 
 

 
 

 

 
What is Safeguarding? Safeguarding adults is about protecting adults at risk of harm (vulnerable adults) from suffering abuse or neglect. It is 

recognised that certain groups of people may be more likely to experience abuse and less able to access services or support to keep themselves safe 

Who are we? 
The Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults Board (CESAB) is a statutory multi-agency partnership comprising of Cheshire East  
Council, Cheshire Police, NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group, housing, local Hospital 
Trusts, Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Trust, North West Ambulance Service, the local prison plus probation trusts, Healthwatch Cheshire East and the 
faith sector. The Board meets every 3 months and has a number of sub-groups. 

The purpose of the Board 
The overarching purpose of the board is to help and safeguard adults with care and support needs. CESAB ensure that locally abuse is prevented and that 
partners respond when abuse does occur in line with the needs and wishes of the person experiencing harm. 

Our aims 
Working together and with adults at risk of abuse the board aims to ensure people are: 
–– safe and able to protect themselves from abuse and neglect; 
–– treated fairly and with dignity and respect; 
–– protected when they need to be; 
–– and able to easily get the support, protection and services that they need. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
This report will be published on our website www.stopadultabuse.org.uk for all partners and members of the public to access 

As required by the Care Act, this report will also be shared with the Chief Executive Officer and Lead Member at Cheshire East Council as well as the Police 

and Crime Commissioner, Heathwatch Cheshire East plus Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board.  

The work of the Board is driven by its vision that People in Cheshire East have the right to live a life free from harm, where communities:                                                      

- Have a culture that does not tolerate abuse                                                                                                                                                                                                   

- Work together to prevent abuse                                                                                                                               

- Know what to do when abuse happens 

THE BOARD 

Our annual report tells you:                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
What the Board has done in 2018/19                                                                                                                                                                                                          
What the data for 2018/19 tells us about Adult Safeguarding in Cheshire East                                                                                                                                       
Using case studies, tells you about some of the contributions of partners to adult safeguarding                                                                                                          
Our priorities looking forward                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

. 
 

 

Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults Board is required, under the Care Act 2014, to produce an annual report each year. The 
report must set out what we have done during the last year to help and protect adults at risk of abuse and neglect in Cheshire 

East 

P
age 111

http://www.stopadultabuse.org.uk/


 

3 
 

What has the board done in 2018/19?  

The Board focussed on the following four areas of Adult Safeguarding during 2018/19: Domestic Abuse, Modern 

Slavery, Self Neglect and financial abuse  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Domestic Abuse: In 2018 the 

Board focused on the issue 

of Domestic Abuse involving 

adults at risk in Cheshire 

East. The Board considered 

the work of domestic abuse 

services, and SAB partners 

demonstrated how they 

work together ensure adults 

at risk who experience 

Domestic Abuse get the 

services they need to be safe 

and to recover. The findings 

of multi-agency audits in this 

Financial Abuse: The board 
has also reviewed the local 
response to Financial Abuse. 
The Board conducted multi-
agency audits in cases of 
financial abuse and 
examined the joined up 
work with Cheshire Police 
and Trading Standards to 
disrupt Financial Abuse and 
Scams. The Police 
highlighted how online 
crime now accounts for 48% 
of all recorded offences. The 
‘Stay Safe Online’ project 
with the Community Safety 

 
Partnership was also a key focus in how SAB partners work 
together to educate adults at risk in Cheshire East in the area of 
online safety and security. Online Safety for adults at risk now 
forms part of the SAB’s Basic Awareness Safeguarding Training. 
 

 

area plus case examples demonstrated how Domestic Abuse 

affects every aspect of an adults at risk life, from their 

independence, health, & housing, to their confidence and 

wellbeing. SAB partners demonstrated that with the right 

support adults at risk can feel safe and independent following 

Domestic Abuse. Following this work, Cheshire East Council 

now has an IDVA (Independent Domestic Violence Advisor) 

working within their frontline contact team. This work will help 

provide the best possible support for adults at risk who 

experience domestic abuse. 

P
age 112



 

4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Neglect: SAB partners 
noted an increase during 
2018/19 in the numbers of 
adults at risk experiencing 
self-neglect and hoarding 
issues. The Board focussed on 
the work partners have been 
doing to support adult’s 
experiencing self-neglect and 
hoarding behaviour and 
considered these issues in 
terms of practice, training and 
strategy. The Board decided 
to hold a conference to 
explore these issues further, 
especially hoarding 

The Hoarding Conference March 2019 

The Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults Board and Cheshire East Council 

hosted a local conference at Regents Park, Nantwich on Wednesday 

20th March 2019. This conference aimed to highlight the growing need 

in Cheshire East to expand our services in order to give individuals 

affected by hoarding behaviour the necessary services to support them 

towards long-term change. The conference was attended by over 100 

delegates from a wide range of partner agencies across the borough. 

The event was opened by Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director 

of People, Cheshire East Council, and the keynote session was 

delivered by Heather Matuozzo the founder of Clouds End CIC, 

(www.cloudsend.org.uk) , the first social enterprise dedicated to 

working with people who have hoarding issues. The slides from the 

day plus information from the sessions are available on the Board’s 

website 

 

Geoffrey Appleton, Independent Chair, with Heather Matuozzo 

Slavery: In March 2019 the SAB 

focussed on Modern Day 

Slavery. It oversaw a deep dive 

case audit into 4 cases of slavery 

and examined the local response 

to reports of slavery. Cheshire 

East hosted the North West  

ADASS Training event. Health, 

Local Authority, Police and 

Housing partners are now  

ADASS trained and rolling out 

slavery training in their settings.  

A Cheshire East Modern Day 

Slavery Partnership Group has 

also been formed to capture 

local activity and best practice. 

P
age 113



 

5 
 

Awards Ceremony 

                                                        
The Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults and Children’s Boards aim to prevent abuse where possible and act quickly and appropriately when 

it does happen. The Boards recognise that across Cheshire East there are many carers, health and social workers plus volunteers doing 

fantastic jobs, sometimes under very difficult circumstances. The 2018 Safeguarding & Dignity Awards were an opportunity to celebrate and 

recognise good practice in organisations, teams, individual workers or volunteers with regards to treating individuals with dignity, and 

supporting and protecting children and adults at risk from abuse, harm or exploitation. Successful nominees were invited to attend a 

celebratory event in November 2018 at Congleton Town Hall.  The event was a celebration of individuals and teams who go the extra mile 

to treat individuals with dignity or to support and protect children and adults at risk. The awards celebrated 25 winners from across 

Cheshire East including two residents who won the public community award for noticing signs of abuse in a regular customer and reporting 

it to our safeguarding teams. Councillor Janet Clowes, presented one of the awards and said:                                                                                 

“We see from the examples of what these people do, that it is extraordinary. It’s not just a day job it is a vocation, and as we’ve seen from 

real examples today, people have been protected and in some cases, lives saved, congratulations to all our winners” 

P
age 114



 

6 
 

Training and Development:  

We highlighted in the SAB Annual Report of 2017/18 that the Board wanted to make the Adult Safeguarding Learning and 

Development offer for the local Care, Voluntary and Faith Sector a priority for 2018/19.  

In August 2018, the Board successfully secured external funding to deliver a 12 month Training Project. The Board were 

able to appoint a full-time dedicated Training Officer to deliver Basic Awareness Adult Safeguarding Training to all care 

providers and third sector partners across Cheshire East. The course is free of charge and gives delegates an 

understanding of relevant local polices, signs and symptoms of abuse, and how to report any concerns.  

                                                                                                                  
The Board is seeking to continue this work into 2019/20. It is also linking with Cheshire East Council and their Adult 

Safeguarding Champions scheme; ensuring all care providers and voluntary/ faith sector settings have a fully trained Adult 

Safeguarding Champion within their organisation. 

 

 

P
age 115



 

7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The three 

year 

Strategy 

Earlier this year the board launched its three year strategic plan. The Safeguarding Adults Board strategy plan is developed as a three year 

document (2018-2021) through a consultation process; this was done via our Service User Group, consultation in local libraries and through 

HealthWatch CE. As required by the Care Act, this plan will be reviewed on an annual basis at the Board’s Development Session to ensure 

that it continues to reflect the priorities of the local community. The full detailed plan can be found on the board’s website but a summary is 

below: 

 

P
age 116



 

8 
 

Prevention and Public awareness: An important role of the SAB is to raise public awareness so 

that communities play their part in preventing, identifying and responding to abuse and neglect.  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over 2018/19 CESAB produced regular newsletters and bulletin updates which were sent to all 

partners and posted on the website providing information on adult safeguarding. 

The Board are also producing more information in Easy Read format; this ensures it is now easier for 

professionals, public and adults at risk to understand safeguarding, how to keep safe and how to 

respond when there is a concern. 

The Board continues to develop its social media presence across Twitter, Facebook, Youtube and 

Linked In 

   
  

Board partners pledging to stand against Hate Crime in Cheshire East  

“By making this pledge, partners promised to: 

-Do their best to combat prejudice & stop those who would hurt anyone 

because of hate or prejudice.                                                                                          

-Try to be aware of any personal prejudice & try to understand people they 

see as different.                                                                                                                        

-Speak out against all forms of prejudice and discrimination                                  

-Support victims of hate                                                                                                    

-Think of ways that their own organisations and communities can promote 

respect for all people 

They believe that there is NO PLACE FOR HATE in Cheshire East” 

 

 

CESAB have also been in attendance at number of key partnership events across the year such as, Domestic Abuse events facilitated by Cheshire 

East domestic and sexual abuse partnership, several Multi-agency Training Events, The Safer Cheshire East Development Session, the Health and 

Wellbeing Board, Adult Scrutiny Committee, The Adult Social Care Team Manager sessions and the Adult Safeguarding Practitioner Forum. 

P
age 117

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=e%2b4tv8Va&id=B4C3E0A8ADE164ABB0AE6783F4801616221CE61C&thid=OIP.e-4tv8Va1daYpWr6E3yO9AHaEp&mediaurl=https://www.programs-project.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/newsletter-logo.png&exph=565&expw=900&q=newsletter&simid=608018435736274209&selectedIndex=4&adlt=strict


 

9 
 

Making Safeguarding Personal  

 
                                                                                           
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CESAB partners are committed to ensuring that adults 
at risk make their own choices and have control over 
their lives. 
Early in 2019, CESAB partners did a repeat of the 
Self-Assessment they did in 2017 of the Making 
Safeguarding Personal (MSP) practice within their 
settings. CESAB want to ensure that in Cheshire East 
safeguarding services continually work together to 
improve and make sure people get the lives they want. 
The self-assessment highlighted that in Cheshire East 
there is good evidence of service user engagement 
across partner agencies.  Organisations continue to 
promote users’ wishes around choice and control. 
Partner organisations utilise an appropriate range of 
methods to ensure the adult safeguarding workforce in 
Cheshire East is aware of and can apply Making 
Safeguarding Personal in practice. The repeat audit 
did indicate that knowledge and understanding of 
advocacy has heightened across partner agencies 
over the last 18 months. 
 
In December 2018, the Board also conducted 
Frontline Visits in conjunction with the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board. This enabled the 
board to further understand the MSP practice of 
frontline staff in Cheshire East and the overall 
understanding of the Safeguarding Adults Board. 
Frontline practitioners fully embrace MSP and listening 
to the voice of service users, however, more 
awareness around adult safeguarding is needed 
across some Children’s settings, therefore, the SAB is 
now sending  regular newsletters and bulletins to 
children’s frontline workers, and, the SAB  trainer is 
linking where appropriate to partner training events. 
 

MSP Pilot  In September 2018 – March 2019 Cheshire East Council took part in a 

Local Government Association MSP Pilot study, the findings of this study have been 

regularly fed back to SAB partners for shared multi-agency learning. The study 

emphasised that safeguarding adults needs to be person centred and outcomes 

focused. The pilot emphasised to partners that getting the views of individuals that had 

used safeguarding adults services was important and demonstrated how this has led to 

service improvement in Cheshire East. In Cheshire East 95% of Service Users said they 

felt listened to, with 93% of individuals saying they felt safer due to the adult 

safeguarding intervention. 

     

P
age 118



 

10 
 

 
Links with other Boards: In 2018/19 the SAB continued to establish effective working relationships between the 
other key partnership boards that have oversight of work undertaken to support residents of Cheshire East. Over the last 
year we have worked closely with the three other SABs within the Cheshire area as well as local multi-agency partnerships 
in Cheshire East such as the Community Safety Partnership, the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, the Domestic Abuse 
Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Chairs from the local partnerships have met quarterly throughout 
2018/19 as well as a pan Cheshire Business Managers Group also regularly meeting, this has resulted in a clearer 
understanding of respective roles and responsibilities, improve joined up working between partners, reduced duplication, 
and developed collaborative efforts to improve the resilience of Cheshire East communities, families and individuals. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Quality and Audit: The board has conducted four themed Multi-Agency Audits and deep dives of during 

2018/19, to coincide with the themes of the Board. This has enabled partners to have a clear insight in the 

multi-agency work that is taking place to protect adults at risk. It allows the Multi-agency Audit Group to 

review the quality of multi-agency practice in Cheshire East and whether local polices and procedures are 

being adhered to. The audits draw on a variety of data sources from a number of agencies.  

The Audit Groups findings are passed on to the Board and learning is shared with frontline staff and team 

managers 

 

 

What is a Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR)?  
The Board may carry out a Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) when an adult at risk has died or been seriously harmed, 
and abuse or neglect is suspected. In such cases a SAR will be commissioned where there has been multi-agency 
involvement and it is believed that there are lessons to be learnt about how organisations have worked together to 
prevent similar deaths or injuries happening in the future.  
 
Local update: 
The Board received three referrals for a SAR over the last year; these were reviewed by our Serious Case Group that 
is chaired by Cheshire Police. The group concluded that these cases did not meet the threshold for a full SAR. 
However, it recommended that a detailed Multi-agency Learning Event/ Reflective Review was held for each case. 
These have taken place and learning has been shared across the partnership and with frontline staff.  
  
 

P
age 119



 

11 
 

 
 
 

Performance and activity Information 2018-19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4308                                   
*referrals received between April 2018 – March 2019  

 

 

 FEMALE                   

63% 

 

 

 

MALE                      

37%                    

 

Of which 914 were section 42 

enquiries.  

An enquiry is what needs to be 

looked at to confirm a person is 

safe 

Highest types of abuse were 

Neglect/Acts of Omission (28%) Physical 

Abuse (21%) & financial abuse (21%) 

Most prominent location of abuse is 

own home, followed by care home 

settings 

Crewe and Macclesfield had the highest 

area of concern 

 

In 71 % of concluded 

safeguarding enquiries people 

had been asked to express 

their outcomes.   

Of those, 68% fully achieved 

their outcomes   

 

 

Data comparisons to the North West England figures for 2017/18 
available on request 

 

 

 

P
age 120



 

12 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Joyce’s Story Joyce is 72 and lives alone.  She has mobility difficulties and 

some health issues.  She told the District Nurse that over the last few months her 

neighbour had been asking her for money and bits of food, and she was not 

always paying the money back, plus these requests were becoming more 

frequent. Joyce consented to the District Nurse notifying her Social Worker about 

this, she did not want the Police involved as liked the neighbour’s company but 

just wanted her to stop asking to borrow money and food as it was making her 

stressed and unhappy. A Social Worker visited Joyce and discussed the options 

available to her, including how to speak with the neighbour herself, arranging for 

another person to speak with the neighbour on her behalf, or contacting the 

police for advice. Joyce decided she would talk directly to the neighbour and let 

the neighbour know that her Social Worker is monitoring the situation. Also, 

during the enquiry, the Social Worker realised the neighbour was a single mother 

that was in arrears with her landlord and was struggling to cope. A referral the 

Cheshire East Consultation Service (ChECS) was made for support for the family. 

 

 

The Herbert Protocol initiative is named after George Herbert, a war 
veteran, who lived with dementia. George Herbert sadly died whilst 
'missing', trying to find his childhood home. It is a national scheme 
introduced by the police in partnership with other agencies which 
encourages carers to compile useful information which could be used in 
the event of a vulnerable person going missing. Carers, family members 
and friends can complete in advance, a form recording all vital details, such 
as medication required, mobile numbers, places previously located, a 
photograph etc.  In the event of your family member or friend going 
missing, the form can be easily handed to the police to reduce the time 
taken in gathering this information. The Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults 
Board is encouraging all care providers and families to complete a Herbert 
Protocol for individuals at risk of going missing. For more details please 
visit the Cheshire Police website. 

 

Tom’s Story Tom is 68, lives at home alone. His wife passed away a couple 

of years ago. The couple were known to hoard but since losing his wife Tom’s 

hoarding behaviours have heightened. Neighbours contacted Environmental 

Health with concerns that the property may contain vermin. Environmental 

Health didn’t find any evidence of vermin but did refer to Adult Social Care as 

were concerned about Tom’s wellbeing and safety. Tom was initially reluctant to 

engage with Adult Social Care but did agree to the Fire Service visiting the 

property in order to do a Fire Risk Assessment with him. Following this, Tom 

slowly started to engage more with services; he has cleared some space in the 

property with support from Housing and has received support and advice around 

his finances.  It is important for Tom to live at home independently and services 

continue to support him in achieving this. 

 

 

Vicky’s Story Vicky was 56 when she developed care and support needs 

following a stroke, which resulted in mobility and communication difficulties. 

Vicky attends a day centre twice a week to support her husband with his caring 

role. The Centre staff noted that Vicky’s husband was being rough with her at 

times when supporting her in and out of the car. A Social Worker visited the 

couple and spoke to both Vicky and her husband. Vicky stated that she wanted to 

continue to have her husband as her main carer but both parties acknowledged 

that he sometimes gets frustrated with this caring role. Vicky’s husband received 

a Carer’s Assessment and a number of actions have been put in place to support 

the couple and to ensure the home is calmer/safer environment. Third sector 

organisations play an important part in ensuring this plan is successful. 

P
age 121



 

13 
 

 
 
 
Our priorities 2019-20 
The Board recognises more can be achieved by working together in partnership, and has committed to the following areas for the year 
ahead, based on feedback, learning and analysis of current strengths. 
 

Training  CESAB are committed to continue to strengthen the Training function of the board. It plans to build on the positive foundation 
established over 2018/19 with the Safeguarding Training Project, and look to extend this project further. This includes ensuring our frontline 
care staff are knowledgeable and prepared for the DoLS replacement scheme, Liberty Protection Safeguards (LiPS) 
 
In 2019 the Board held a successful Adult Safeguarding Conference; it plans to make this an annual event with another planned for spring 2020 
 
Strengthening Partnerships We will continue to strengthen our board by establishing closer working links and structures with the Community 
Safety Partnership, and LSCB ensuring clear oversight of wider contextual safeguarding issues such as Honour Based Violence, Female Genital 
Mutilation, County Lines and Cuckooing. 
 

Improving Communication/ Service User Voice:  We will improve our communication with service users residing in a care home settings, 

ensuring the voice of care home residents are heard. We will also continue to develop our webpages and explore the use of Social Media in 

getting our message across to all Cheshire East communities 

 

The work of our members  All Board partners submitted Single Agency Reports to CESAB highlighting their agency’s Safeguarding 

work over 2018/19 and their future plans/strategic directions. Highlights from this information have been incorporated into this multi-

agency report but the full single-agency statements are available on our website. 

 

 

P
age 122



 

14 
 

 

 

What do you do if a bad thing is happening to you or someone else? 

 
Abuse is wrong. Tell someone. 

 
Call Cheshire East Adult Social Care 

0300 123 5010 (8.30am - 5pm) 
0300 123 5022 (at all other times) 

 
If you are hearing or speech 

impaired, you can use Text Relay 
 

If someone is hurt or it is an 
emergency, please ring 999 

 
If you are scared, tell someone you 

trust who can report it for you. 

 

 

 

Cheshire East Safeguarding Adults Board, First Floor - Macclesfield Town Hall, Market Place, Macclesfield, Cheshire, SK10 1EA.                                                                             

Tel: 01625 374753                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

email: lsab@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

  www.facebook.com/CheshireEastLSAB                                                      @CELSABEast                                                 www.stopadultabuse.org.uk 

 

P
age 123

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=4bKkYTR7&id=BCD23AF5D8B023C61410A7DDC5D6EB0985D47A49&thid=OIP.4bKkYTR78EDHhDGjRnekPwEsEs&q=speech+symbol&simid=608016205193806391&selectedIndex=6&adlt=strict
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=mKETnyTu&id=ACE117E501764C8E8AC8913C60355C1C5053671D&thid=OIP.mKETnyTuWl3N_f8I0YpjVwEsEs&q=speech+symbol&simid=608048473300470639&selectedIndex=51&adlt=strict,strict
mailto:lsab@cheshireeast.gov.uk
http://www.facebook.com/CheshireEastLSAB
http://www.facebook.com/CheshireEastLSAB
http://www.stopadultabuse.org.uk/
http://www.stopadultabuse.org.uk/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Carers Hub and Living Well 
Fund

September 2019 September 2019 

Cheshire East Council

OFFICIAL

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 11



Cheshire East Carers Hub

l The Cheshire East Carers Hub is a information and support service 

designed to help carers of all ages fulfil their caring responsibilities and 

still enjoy a healthy life outside of their caring role. The Hub supports 

carers who live in Cheshire East, along with those who live outside the 

area but care for a Cheshire East resident.

l The Hub was commissioned by Cheshire East Council, in partnership 

with the NHS, and is being delivered by ncompass Northwest. with the NHS, and is being delivered by ncompass Northwest. 

ncompass was selected following a competitive procurement process 

and is an organisation with experience of providing high quality and 

innovative provision for carers. ncompass will work in partnership with 

Child Action North West, The Alzheimer’s Society and other local 

organisations to ensure carers receive information and support which is 

tailored to their individual needs. 

OFFICIAL

P
age 126



Cheshire East Carers Hub

The Hub provides a range of support, which may include;

l taking part in 1-2-1 or group based support activities

l helping carers to take a break and do something for themselves

l providing information, advice and guidance on specific topics

l helping carers to access community, health and wellbeing 

servicesservices

l accessing a range of activities and training

l intensive support to carers (previously known as the Relive 

Service)

l giving carers the opportunity to apply for funds from the 

*Living Well Fund (*criteria applicable)

OFFICIAL

P
age 127



Cheshire East Carers Hub

l One of the many benefits of the Hub is that it is a 

single point of contact for all carers, their families 

and professionals. The Hub team is made up of 

professionals who will work with you to find the best 

solutions to ease the pressure on adult carers, solutions to ease the pressure on adult carers, 

parent carers and support young carers to thrive and 

enjoy a positive childhood.

l The team is available 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday 

(excluding bank holidays) and Saturday 9am to 

12:30pm. Carers can leave a message outside of 

these times.

OFFICIAL

P
age 128



OFFICIAL

P
age 129



OFFICIAL

P
age 130



OFFICIAL

P
age 131



l The Carers Living Well Fund (Carers Breaks) is a statutory requirement of the Better 

Care Fund (BCF)

l Cheshire East Council, together with health partners NHS Eastern Cheshire and NHS South 

Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Groups have piloted the Carers Living Well Fund from November 

2017 – March 2018.

l Following an informal review (assessment) of their health and wellbeing, if the Carer is eligible they  

can access  a one-off payment via the Carers Living Well Fund.  This is currently undertaken via a 

Local Area Co-ordinator and grants are awarded for either £250 or £500.

Carers Living Well Fund

l The funding is intended to prevent Carer crisis and breakdown, supporting Carers to promote their 

own health and wellbeing, therefore enabling Carers continue in their caring role.   The grants 

should in effect provide a ‘break’ from the caring responsibilities of the Carer.

l There is no restriction on the age of the Carer. The Carers Living Well Fund will meet the needs of 

young Carers, parent Carers and Carers of adults living in Cheshire East.

l Funding is made available to support, enable and facilitate a range of flexible Carer breaks that 

give the Carer:

Ø choice and control to enable Carers to have a flexible break from the pressures that caring for a 

loved one can bring 

Ø supports Carers within their caring role 

Ø supports Carers to achieve their individual goals and aspirations. 
OFFICIAL

P
age 132



Eligibility criteria

When applying for the fund, Carers had to meet the below eligibility criteria:

l The Carer must be an unpaid Carer  (Carers are considered unpaid even if they 

are in receipt of Carer’s Allowance or manage Direct Payment/Individual 

Budget Funds for the person for whom they care). 

l The Carer is a resident of Cheshire East Council, the NHS Eastern Cheshire or 

NHS South Cheshire Commissioning Group area.NHS South Cheshire Commissioning Group area.

l A maximum of one grant will be given per cared-for person or household. If 

there is more than one Carer within the household the grant can be used by 

those Carers within the maximum £500 limit per household.

l As the fund is also open to Young Carers and Parent Carers where a Young 

Carer under the age of 18 may not have access to a bank or building society 

account of their own, then any award from the Carers Living Well Fund may 

need to be held by the Parents/Guardian of the Young Carer, if appropriate. 

OFFICIAL

P
age 133



The Carers Living Well Fund could be used for:

l The cost of day trips or short breaks

l Educational course/materials

l Equipment to enhance the caring role e.g. computer/laptop/tablet

l Fitness

l Hobbies/Leisure activities

l Theatre or sports tickets

l Well Being Equipment for the home or to help in accessing sport/fitness and 

wellbeing activities i.e. walking boots, protective waterproof clothing, camping 

equipment 

l Driving lessonsl Driving lessons

l Accessing therapy, pamper or hairdressing treatments

The Carers Living Well Fund cannot be used for:

l General living expenses e.g. rent, utility bills

l Debt repayments

l Gambling

l Any item for the cared-for person including services, aids or adaptations

l Items that should be funded by Social Care or Health Services

l Trips or breaks that have already been booked.

OFFICIAL

P
age 134



Funding Outcomes

Funding is made available to support, enable and facilitate a range of flexible Carer 

breaks that give the Carer:

l Choice and control to enable Carers to have a flexible break from the pressures 

that caring for a loved one can bring 

l Supports Carers within their caring role 

l Supports Carers to achieve their individual goals and aspirations. 

The allocation of a Carers Living Well Fund grant will ideally meet one or more of 

the following key outcomes:-

1. Realising and Releasing Potential

Enabling those with caring responsibilities to fulfil their potential by removing the 

barriers to opportunity and promoting access to learning.  

OFFICIAL

P
age 135



Funding Outcomes continued:

2. Supporting Carers to Stay Healthy

Supporting Carers to remain mentally and physically well by offering services that 

provide positive outcomes to an individual’s health and well-being.

3. Life Outside of Caring

Support to Carers which enables them to have a family and community life, Support to Carers which enables them to have a family and community life, 

alleviating the impact of the caring role. 

4. Better Care Fund outcomes

To ensure that whilst offering a truly genuine break for our Carers based on their 

needs there is also demonstration that the allocation of a Carers Living Well fund 

award is achieving outcomes that link to:

a. Non-elective admissions (General and Acute)

b. Admissions to residential and care homes

c. Effectiveness of Reablement

d. Delayed transfers of care (reducing Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC)

OFFICIAL

P
age 136



What the Carers Living Well 

Fund has been used for:

Health & Wellbeing

l Gym memberships

l Driving Lessons

l Yoga & Pilates Classes

l Dance Classes

Day Trips and Short Breaks

l Visits to the Theatre, Cinema, Music Concerts

l Short breaks away to see family and friends

l Accessing courses and equipment to support hobbies – including Floristry, Photography, 

Horse Riding, Gardening, Language Lessons, Art classes, Fishing 

Technology

l iPads and Laptops were purchased so Carers could keep in contact with friends and family 

and help to prevent social isolation

l iPads and Laptops were purchased to support Carers in their caring role so they can 

access support services

OFFICIAL

P
age 137



How Carer Outcomes have been met

(November 2017 to March 2018 inclusive)

Total number of carers supported by the Carers Living Well Fund is 872

OFFICIAL

P
age 138



Feedback provided by Carers:

Mrs E.C  (purchased meals out and a night away with 

her Husband) – ‘�.We are so grateful to be allocated 

the Carers Living Well Fund as it has enabled us to 

spend valuable time socially together as husband and 

wife away from our caring role which is highly 

stressful.’stressful.’

Mrs FN (purchased  a table and chairs and clothes) – ‘I 

have purchased a much needed table and chairs for my 

kitchen �.. They were over 10 years old so it will make 

such a difference , as we will all be able to sit and eat 

our meals together�..’

OFFICIAL

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



FORWARD PLAN FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 31ST JANUARY 2020

This Plan sets out the key decisions which the Executive expects to take over the period 
indicated above. The Plan is rolled forward every month. A key decision is defined in the 
Council’s Constitution as:

“an executive decision which is likely –
 
(a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of 

savings which are, significant having regard to the local authority’s budget for 
the service or function to which the decision relates; or

 
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an 

area comprising one or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the 
local authority.

 
For the purpose of the above, savings or expenditure are “significant” if they are 
equal to or greater than £1M.”

Reports relevant to key decisions, and any listed background documents, may be viewed 
at any of the Council’s Offices/Information Centres 5 days before the decision is to be 
made. Copies of, or extracts from, these documents may be obtained on the payment of a 
reasonable fee from the following address:

Democratic Services Team
Cheshire East Council
c/o Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach Cheshire CW11 1HZ
Telephone:  01270 686472

However, it is not possible to make available for viewing or to supply copies of reports or 
documents the publication of which is restricted due to confidentiality of the information 
contained.

A record of each key decision is published within 6 days of it having been made. This is 
open for public inspection on the Council's Website, at Council Information Centres and at 
Council Offices.

This Forward Plan also provides notice that the Cabinet, or a Portfolio Holder, may decide 
to take a decision in private, that is, with the public and press excluded from the meeting. 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 28 clear days’ notice must be given of any 
decision to be taken in private by the Cabinet or a Portfolio Holder, with provision for the 
public to make representations as to why the decision should be taken in public.  In such 
cases, Members of the Council and the public may make representations in writing to the 

Page 141 Agenda Item 12



Democratic Services Team Manager using the contact details below. A further notice of 
intention to hold the meeting in private must then be published 5 clear days before the 
meeting, setting out any representations received about why the meeting should be held in 
public, together with a response from the Leader and the Cabinet.

The list of decisions in this Forward Plan indicates whether a decision is to be taken in 
private, with the reason category for the decision being taken in private being drawn from 
the list overleaf: 

1. Information relating to an individual
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including to authority holding that information)
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office 
holders under the authority

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal and professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes (a) to give under any 
enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a 
person; or (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation of prosecution of crime

If you would like to make representations about any decision to be conducted in private at 
a meeting, please email:

Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer 
paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Such representations must be received at least 10 clear working days before the date of 
the Cabinet or Portfolio Holder meeting concerned.

Where it has not been possible to meet the 28 clear day rule for publication of notice of a 
key decision or intention to meet in private, the relevant notices will be published as soon 
as possible in accordance with the requirements of the Constitution.

The law and the Council's Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made. Any 
decision made in this way will be published in the same way.

Page 142

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


Forward Plan

Key Decision 
and 

Private 
Non-Key 
Decision

Decisions to be Taken Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 18/19-65 
SMDA 
Infrastructure 
Procurement 
Strategy

In accordance with the 
authority delegated by 
Cabinet to the Executive 
Director of Place on 8th 
May 2018:

To procure the 
infrastructure, utilities and 
ground stabilisation works 
at South Macclesfield 
Development Area; to 
enter into any contracts or 
agreements required 
under the SCAPE Civil 
Engineering and 
Infrastructure Framework; 
and to utilise an NEC ECC 
Type C construction 
contract with Early 
Contractor Involvement.

Executive Director 
Place

Not before 
12th Jun 2019

N/A

P
age 143



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 18/19-66 
SMDA 
Infrastructure 
and Funding 
Agreement

In accordance with the 
authority delegated by 
Cabinet to the Executive 
Director of Place on 8th 
May 2018:

To enter into a funding 
agreement (infrastructure 
agreement) with the 
principal landowner in 
respect of the Council’s 
landholding at South 
Macclesfield Development 
Area.

Executive Director 
Place

Not before 
12th Jun 2019

Partly 
exempt by 
virtue of 
paras 3 and 
5.

P
age 144



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 18/19-69 
Acquisition of 
the Willows, 
Macclesfield

In accordance with 
Chapter 2, Part 6, 
Paragraph 52 of the 
constitution of Cheshire 
East Borough Council 
dated 12th February 2019:

To approve the acquisition 
of the property known as 
The Willows, Macclesfield, 
Cheshire SK11 8LF and to 
instruct the Council’s Legal 
Officers to proceed to legal 
completion of the purchase 
and any related legal 
documentation on terms 
and conditions to be 
determined by the Assets 
Manager and the Director 
of Governance and 
Compliance.

Executive Director 
Place

Not before 
19th Jun 2019

Fully exempt 
under para 3

CE 18/19-67 
Macclesfield 
Town Centre 
Regeneration - 
Strategic 
Regeneration 
Framework and 
Future 
Programme

Taking into account the 
outcome of a public 
consultation on a draft 
Strategic Regeneration 
Framework for 
Macclesfield Town Centre, 
to approve a final version 
of the Framework and 
agree further actions 
stemming from its 
recommendations.

Cabinet 8 Oct 2019 Jo Wise N/A

P
age 145



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-11 
Re-Commission 
of Children with 
Disability Short 
Breaks

To approve the re-
commissioning of Children 
with Disability short breaks 
services and delegate 
authority to the Acting 
Executive Director People, 
following consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Families, to 
make a decision on award 
of contract.

Cabinet 8 Oct 2019 David Leadbetter

CE 19/20-13 
The Cheshire 
East Partnership 
Five Year Plan

To approve the 
Partnership Five Year Plan 
for submission to the 
Cheshire and Merseyside 
Health and Care 
Partnership and to 
authorise Officers to take 
all necessary actions to 
submit the Plan.

Cabinet 8 Oct 2019 Guy Kilminster, 
Corporate 
Manager Health 
Improvement

CE 19/20-5 
Recommissionin
g of Housing-
Related Support 
Contracts

To seek approval to the 
recommissioning of 
Housing-Related Support 
Contracts to be awarded 
from 1st April 2020, and to 
delegate authority to the 
Executive Director Place to 
authorise and award the 
contracts.

Cabinet 8 Oct 2019 Karen Carsberg, 
Strategic Housing 
and Intelligence 
Manager

N/A

P
age 146



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-7 
Everybody Sport 
and Recreation 
Annual 
Performance 
Report 2018/19 
and Leisure 
Centre Capital 
Improvement 
Programme

Cabinet will be asked to:
1. note the annual 

performance report for 
2018/19 from 
Everybody Sport and 
Recreation; and

2. approve the letting of a 
series of contracts for 
future capital 
improvement works at 
leisure centre 
provision in Knutsford, 
Middlewich, Nantwich, 
Poynton and 
Wilmslow.

Cabinet 8 Oct 2019 Mark Wheelton N/A

CE 18/19-44 
Local Transport 
Plan

Cheshire East Council as 
the Local Transport 
Authority has a duty to 
produce, and keep under 
review, a Local Transport 
Plan (LTP) in accordance 
with the Local Transport 
Act 2008. Council will be 
asked to approve the LTP 
for adoption following 
consideration by Cabinet.

Council 17 Oct 2019 Richard Hibbert N/A

P
age 147



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 18/19-51 
ASDV 
Programme 
Update

To authorise officers to 
take all necessary actions 
to implement the 
recommendations made in 
the ASDV Review report 
approved by Cabinet on 
12th March 2019.

Cabinet 5 Nov 2019 Fully exempt 
- paras 3 & 4

CE 19/20-6 
Care4CE

In connection with a 
strategic review of 
Care4CE, to seek approval 
to establish a wholly-
owned community interest 
company (CiC), and to 
introduce new terms and 
conditions for new staff in 
the Single Legal Entity 
(SLE).   

Cabinet 5 Nov 2019 N/A

CE 19/20-18 
Review of 
Council Tax 
Support Scheme 
for 2020/21

To approve the Council 
Tax Support Scheme for 
2020/21.

Cabinet 5 Nov 2019 Liz Rimmer N/A

CE 19/20-20  
Highway and 
Infrastructure 
Schemes up to 
£5M in Value

To seek approval to deliver 
a number of highway and 
infrastructure schemes 
valued between £1M and 
£5M and to authorise the 
officers to take all 
necessary actions to 
implement the schemes.

Cabinet 5 Nov 2019 Chris Hindle N/A

P
age 148



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-22 
Crewe Southern 
Link Road 
Bridge - 
Preferred Route

To seek approval for the 
selection of a preferred 
route and to continue to 
progress the design and 
development of the 
scheme and carry out work 
necessary to support a 
planning application.

Cabinet 5 Nov 2019 Paul Griffiths N/A

CE 19/20-19 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document - 
Brooks Lane 
(Middlewich) 
Development 
Framework 
(Masterplan)

To consider 
representations received 
to the draft Brooks Lane 
(Middlewich) Development 
Framework (Masterplan) 
public consultation held in 
January and February 
2019; subject to that, to 
approve the publication of 
the document as a 
Supplementary Planning 
Document.

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Not before 
20th Nov 2019

Jeremy Owens N/A

CE 18/19-60 
The Minerals 
and Waste 
Development 
Plan

To seek approval to 
consult on the first draft of 
the Minerals and Waste 
Development Plan. 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

November 
2019

Adrian Fisher, 
Head of Planning 
Strategy

N/A

P
age 149



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-23 
Crewe Hub 
Station - Project 
Development 
Output, 
Strategic Outline 
Business Case 
and Evidence 
Base

To approve the outputs of 
the Crewe Hub Station 
solutions stage project 
development work, 
approve the strategic 
outline business case for 
the enhanced Crewe Hub 
Station and its supporting 
evidence base and funding 
and financing strategy, 
progress the Hub station 
design to detailed design, 
and seek necessary 
Government commitments 
on funding.

Cabinet 3 Dec 2019 Hayley Kirkham N/A

CE 18/19-54 
Crewe Station 
Hub Area Action 
Plan - 
Publication Draft 
Plan

To seek approval for a 
further six week 
consultation period on the 
Crewe Station Hub Area 
Action Plan.

Cabinet 3 Dec 2019 Adrian Fisher, 
Head of Planning 
Strategy

N/A

CE 19/20-21 
Site Allocations 
and 
Development 
Policies 
Document

To seek approval to submit 
the Publication Draft 
Cheshire East Site 
Allocations and 
Development Policies 
Document, along with its 
supporting evidence, for 
public examination.

Council 12 Dec 2019 Jeremy Owens N/A

P
age 150



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-17 
Well-Managed 
Highway 
Infrastructure

To seek authority for the 
Executive Director Place, 
in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Waste, to 
approve amendments to 
the Council’s Highway 
Inspection Code of 
Practice and Adverse 
Weather Plan to ensure 
that they accord with the 
document ‘ Well-Managed 
Highway Infrastructure’.

Cabinet 14 Jan 2020 Paul Traynor N/A

CE 18/19-68 
Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy 2020-
24

To approve the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 
for 2020-24, incorporating 
the Council’s priorities, 
budget, policy proposals 
and capital programme. 
The report will also include 
the capital, treasury 
management, investment 
and reserves strategies.

Council 20 Feb 2020 Alex Thompson, 
Director of 
Financial and 
Customer 
Services

N/A

P
age 151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Key Decision N

Date First 
Published: N/A

Version 
Number: 1

Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 12 September 2019

Report Title: Work Programme

Senior Officer: Jane Burns, Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. To review items in the work programme listed in the schedule attached, 
together with any other items suggested by committee members.

2. Recommendation

2.1. To approve the work programme, subject to reviewing the proposed 
revisions (as at Section 6) since its last approval on 12 September 2019, 
and agreement to add new items or delete items that no longer require any 
scrutiny activity.

2.2. To review the recently suggested items, as set out in Section 7, and 
determine which items will be added to the work programme and when.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1. It is good practice to regularly review the work programme and update it as 
required.

4. Background

4.1. The committee has responsibility for updating and approving its own work 
programme. Scrutiny liaison meetings – held between the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the committee, alongside the portfolio holders and key 
senior officers – ensure that there is continued awareness and discussion 
of upcoming policies, strategies and decisions within the committee’s remit 
area.

Page 153 Agenda Item 13



OFFICIAL

5. Determining Which Items Should be Added to the Work Programme

5.1. When selecting potential topics, members should have regard to the 
Council’s three year plan and to the criteria listed below, which should be 
considered to determine whether scrutiny activity is appropriate.

5.2. The following questions should be considered by the committee when 
determining whether to add new work programme items, or delete existing 
items: 

 Does the issue fall within a corporate priority?

 Is the issue of key interest to the public?

 Does the matter relate to a poor or declining performing service for 
which there is no obvious explanation?

 Is there a pattern of budgetary overspends or underspends?

 Is it a matter raised by external audit management letters and or 
audit reports?

 Is there a high level of dissatisfaction with the service?

5.3. The committee should not add any items to its work programme (and 
should delete any existing items) that fall under any one of the following:

 The topic is already being addressed elsewhere by another body 
(i.e. this committee would be duplicating work)

 The matter is sub-judice

 Scrutiny would not add value to the matter

 The committee is unlikely to be able to conclude an investigation 
within a specified or required timescale

6. Updates to the work programme since the last meeting

6.1. Since the last meeting on 12 September 2019, the following changes were 
made to items listed on the work programme.

6.1.1. ‘Carers Hub – Living Well Fund’ has been amended on the work 
programme to reflect the new rationale for the committee receiving this 
item. 

Page 154



OFFICIAL

The item was originally intended to be presented to the committee in 
order for it to consider the proposed Cabinet decision(s), however, when 
this decision was no longer being made (services remaining the same), 
this report was no longer required.

Instead, the committee asked for the item to remain on the agenda in 
order for members to learn more about the Carers Hubs and Living Well 
Fund.

7. Items Suggested for Addition

7.1. Since the last meeting on 12 September 2019, the following reports and 
matters have been suggested for the committee to determine whether to 
add them to its work programme and if so, when.

7.1.1. ‘Recommissioned Respite Care Services’ – to monitor the performance 
of the council’s recommissioned respite care services.

8. Items Suggested for Deletion

8.1. Since the last meeting on 12 September 2019, the following reports and 
matters have been suggested for the committee to determine whether to 
delete them from its work programme.

8.1.1. ‘Delayed Transfers of Care’ – The committee had scheduled to receive 
a 12-month performance update from the council and local health 
partners on delayed transfers of care performance. Advice received from 
officers and portfolio holders at the most recent liaison meeting was that 
the delayed transfers of care report being received on 12 September 
2019 comprised 12 months’ data, meaning that the report in February 
would not be of the same value. 

9. Implications of the Recommendations

9.1. There are no implications to legal or financial matters, equality, human 
resources, risk management, or for rural communities, children and young 
people or public health.

10.Ward Members Affected

10.1. All.

11.Access to Information

11.1. The background papers can be inspected by contacting the report author.

12.Contact Information

Page 155



OFFICIAL

12.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Joel Hammond-Gant

Job Title: Scrutiny Officer

Email: joel.hammond-gant@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 156



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
1

10.10.19

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

07.11.19

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

07.11.19

2.00pm

Extra 
informal 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

05.12.19

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

16.01.20

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

06.02.20

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

05.03.20

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

09.04.20

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

07.05.20

10.00am

Ordinary 
business 
meeting

Committee 
Suite, 
Westfields

Item Purpose Lead Officer Portfolios Suggested 
by

Scrutiny role Corporate 
priorities

Date

Care4CE To consider the Council’s proposals 
for its Care4CE service, in advance of a 
formal decision being taken by 
Cabinet.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

CLT Pre-decision 
scrutiny

People live 
well and for 
longer

10.10.19

Working 
Arrangements at the 
Congleton War 
Memorial Hospital

To consider a report on the working 
arrangements at the Congleton War 
Memorial Hospital

John Wilbraham 
(East Cheshire 
NHS Trust) / 
Clare Watson 
(Cheshire CCGs)

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

Monitoring 
developments or 
variations in 
service provision

People live 
well and for 
longer

10.10.19

P
age 157



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
2

Impact of 2018 
Winter Pressures on 
Delayed Transfers of 
Care 

To consider performance relating to 
delayed transfers of care during the 
2018/19 winter months.

CEC / Eastern 
Cheshire CCG / 
South Cheshire 
CCG

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

10.10.19

Connected 
Communities

To consider a progress report on 
performance of the Council’s 
Connected Communities Centres 
against key strategies and objectives

Director of 
Commissioning

Communities Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

10.10.19

Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board Annual 
Report 2018/19

To consider the work undertaken and 
achievements from 2018/19.

Head of 
Safeguarding

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

CLT Performance 
monitoring

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

10.10.19

P
age 158



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
3

Carers Hub and Living 
Well Fund

To receive a presentation on the 
Carers Hubs – what they are, how 
they work etc – as well as what the 
Living Well Fund is.

NB. This item was previously intended 
to be a pre-decision scrutiny report on 
… This decision is no longer being 
made so the corresponding report to 
scrutiny was of no value.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee For information 
and learning

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

10.10.19

North West 
Ambulance Service 
(NWAS) Performance 
Update

To consider a performance report 
from NWAS, approximately 12 
months on from the last report to the 
committee.

NWAS Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

07.11.19

Everybody Sport and 
Recreation Annual 
Performance Report 
2018/19

To consider the annual performance 
of ESAR in 2018/19.

CEO of ESAR Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Information / 
performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

07.11.19

P
age 159



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
4

Recommissioning of 
Assistive Technology

To consider a report providing detail 
on performance following the 
recommissioning of assistive 
technology

Director of 
Commissioning 

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Monitoring 
developments or 
variations in 
service provision

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

07.11.19

Pre-Budget 2020/21 
Consultation

To consider the 2020/21 budget 
proposals for the services that fall 
within the remit of this committee.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People / 
Director of 
Financial and 
Customer 
Services (S151 
Officer)

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Public Health 
and Corporate 
Services

Communities

CLT Pre-decision 
scrutiny

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

Responsible, 
effective and 
efficient 
organisation

07.11.19

TBC P
age 160



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
5

Informal information 
gathering session on 
Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller 
communities in 
Cheshire East, 
focusing on the 
impacts they 
experience to/on 
their welfare

To meet with council officers and 
partners to receive information and 
evidence on the impacts to the welfare 
of GRT communities in Cheshire East, 
what current legislation requires of 
local authorities, and how Cheshire 
East Council (and partners) have 
performed against these targets.

Initially, the committee will look to 
consider evidence on the following 
welfare issues: education, health, 
hostility/harassment, environment.

Various partners 
TBC

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Public Health 
and Corporate 
Services

Communities

Committee Potential spotlight 
review

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

Responsible, 
effective and 
efficient 
organisation

07.11.19 
(extra 
informal 
meeting)

Provision of 
Orthodontic and Oral 
Surgery Services in 
Cheshire East

Following the most recent update on 
12.09.19, to receive a further update 
on the activity and progress in relation 
to future orthodontic and oral surgery 
services in Cheshire East. 

NHS England / 
Public Health 
England

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee To be consulted 
and informed of 
development of 
new model of care 
for services 

People live 
well and for 
longer

05.12.19

Cheshire East Mental 
Health Strategy

To scrutinise the activity and 
performance of the council against the 
key objectives and aims in the recently 
published Mental Health Strategy.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

05.12.19

P
age 161



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
6

Update on the Re-
design of Adults and 
Older People’s 
Mental Health 
Services in Cheshire 
East

To consider the progress made to date 
by health partners to establish the 
new, redesigned service provision for 
adults and older people’s mental 
health services in Cheshire East, as well 
as performance against key targets and 
objectives.

NHS Eastern 
Cheshire CCG / 
CWP

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

05.12.19

Impacts to Cheshire 
East Adult Social Care 
Services Following 
Decision on 
Millbrook Unit

To consider a report highlighting the 
impacts to Cheshire East Council adult 
social care services following the 
implementation of the new model of 
mental health services in eastern 
Cheshire.  (This will be brought to the 
committee following the 
implementation of new ways of 
working to ensure sufficient data and 
evidence for effective scrutiny.)  

NHS Eastern 
Cheshire CCG / 
CWP / CEC

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Director of 
Adult Social 
Care / 
Director of 
Public 
Health

Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

05.12.19

Reducing the Parity 
of Deprivation and 
other Key Health 
Issues Across 
Cheshire East 

(1) To consider a report detailing and 
explaining what the ‘tartan rug’ is 
and how it is used.

(2) To consider a report on how the 
council (with and without 
partners) is working to reduce 
health inequalities and disparities 
across the borough, e.g. varying 
levels of deprivation.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People / Acting 
Director of 
Public Health

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Public Health 
and Corporate 
Services

Communities

Committee Overview People live 
well and for 
longer

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

05.12.19

P
age 162



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
7

Performance 
scorecard – Quarter 
2, 2019/20

To keep the committee informed of 
progress made within the health and 
adult social care sections, against key 
performance indicators.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Public Health 
and Corporate 
Services

Communities

CLT Performance 
monitoring

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

16.01.20

Review of Autism 
Screening at 
Cheshire’s Custody 
Suites

To consider a report from the 
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership 
(CWP) on autism screening at 
Cheshire’s custody suites, following a 
campaign to identify suspects with, or 
suspected of having, a condition on 
the Autistic Spectrum. 

CWP Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee 
(following 
CWP Quality 
Account 
2016/17)

Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

16.01.20 

Delayed Transfers of 
Care

To consider a report outlining 
performance on delayed transfers of 
care approximately 12 months on 
from the last report to committee in 
February 2019.

CEC / CCGs / 
CWP

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

06.02.20

Suggested 
for 
deletion

Recommissioned 
Respite Care Services

To consider an update on the 
recommissioned respite care services.

Director of 
Commissioning

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

05.03.20

Suggested 
for 
addition

P
age 163



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
8

Cheshire and Wirral 
Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust – 
Quality Accounts 
2019/20

To consider the 2019/20 Quality 
Account and provide feedback to be 
included in the final version of the 
accounts.

CWP Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

CWP Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

09.04.20

East Cheshire NHS 
Trust – Quality 
Accounts 2019/20

To consider the 2019/20 Quality 
Account and provide feedback to be 
included in the final version of the 
accounts.

East Cheshire 
NHS Trust 

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

East 
Cheshire 
NHS Trust

Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

09.04.20

Mid Cheshire NHS 
Trust – Quality 
Accounts 2019/20

To consider the 2019/20 Quality 
Account and provide feedback to be 
included in the final version of the 
accounts.

Mid Cheshire 
NHS Trust

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Mid 
Cheshire 
NHS Trust

Performance 
monitoring

People live 
well and for 
longer

09.04.20

Performance 
scorecard – Quarter 
3, 2019/20

To keep the committee informed of 
progress made within the health and 
adult social care sections, against key 
performance indicators.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Public Health 
and Corporate 
Services

Communities

CLT Performance 
monitoring

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

07.05.20

P
age 164



Work Programme Health and Adult Social Care and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 13.09.19

OFFICIAL
9

Performance 
scorecard – Quarter 
4, 2019/20

To keep the committee informed of 
progress made within the health and 
adult social care sections, against key 
performance indicators.

Acting Executive 
Director of 
People

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Public Health 
and Corporate 
Services

Communities

CLT Performance 
monitoring

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

July/Aug
2020

Recommissioning of 
Integrated Lifestyle 
Services

A performance update on the new 
commission approximately 6 months 
after it has been in place

Director of 
Commissioning

Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

Committee 
(2018/19)

Performance 
monitoring

Our local 
communities 
are strong 
and 
supportive

People live 
well and for 
longer

July/Aug 
2020

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Care4CE
	Consultation data (3)

	7 Working Arrangements at the Congleton War Memorial Hospital Minor Injuries Unit
	8 Impact of 2018 Winter Pressures on Delayed Transfers of Care
	9 Connected Communities
	Appendix 1 Nantwich and Stapeley Action Plan 19-20
	Appendix 2 - Early Help and Asset Based Community Development ..

	10 Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018/19
	11 Carers Hubs and Living Well Fund
	12 Forward Plan
	13 Work Programme
	Work Programme - Health and Adult Social Care and Communities OSC


